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Thursday, February 12, 2009

--- On commencing at  SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 110:04 a.m.

MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.

Good morning, ladies and gentlemen.  The Board is sitting today in connection with an application that was filed on December 19th, 2008 by Natural Resource Gas. 

NRG is seeking an order pursuant to section 10 of the Municipal Franchises Act to renew its -- for a period of 20 years, its existing franchise agreement with the Town of Aylmer.  The existing agreement is due to expire on February 27th, 2009.

May we have the appearances, please?
Appearances:

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Mr. Chair.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  With me today is Mr. Nabih Mikhail.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Millar.

MR. KING:  Richard King for Natural Resource Gas Limited.  With me is my co-counsel Larry Thacker and Mr. Bristoll from NRG.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. King.

MR. TUNLEY:  My name is Phil Tunley.  I am here for the Town of Aylmer as intervenor in the proceeding.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Tunley.

MR. STOLL:  Scott Stoll.  I am here for the Integrated Grain Processors Cooperative Inc., an intervenor in the proceedings.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. King.

MR. KING:  We don't have any preliminary matters.  Mr. Thacker will take care of a very short direct exam of Mr. Bristoll, and then Mr. Bristoll will be open for cross-examination.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Thacker.

MR. THACKER:  If it's acceptable to the Board, we discussed amongst counsel having the witnesses stay where they are.

MR. KAISER:  No, that's fine.

MR. THACKER:  Mr. Bristoll, do you have in front of you the prefiled evidence of the --

MR. KAISER:  Excuse me.  May we have the witness sworn, Mr. Thacker?

MR. THACKER:  Oh, I'm sorry.
NATURAL RESOURCE GAS - PANEL 1

Mark Bristoll, Sworn.


MR. KAISER:  Please proceed.
Examination by Mr. Thacker:

MR. THACKER:  Mr. Bristoll, could I ask you to turn to tab C-1 of the prefiled evidence of Natural Resource Gas, which I will call NRG?

Can you just give us an outline of the history of NRG and its operations over the past 30 years?

MR. BRISTOLL:  Is this working right here?  Okay, good.

Natural Resource Gas was acquired by its current owners in 1979.  At the time that the company was acquired, the conditions of the assets were basically in very poor condition.

The pipeline consisted of predominantly steel pipe with a high leakage rate in approximately the 30 percent range.  Since that time, most of the pipe has been replaced with plastic pipe, and we now have a very low leakage rate of almost zero. 

NRG has almost upgraded many of its facilities, such as acquiring a new bulling recently to the tune of about $800,000.  We have also increased our customer base from around 2,000 customers to approximately 7,000 customers today.

We have also a complete customer service department that is there to satisfy the needs of both the utility side of the business and the appliance side of the business for installation and so forth.

MR. THACKER:  And have you ever had any difficulties in the past with the renewal of any franchise over the past 30 years?

MR. BRISTOLL:  To the best of my knowledge, no, we have not.

MR. THACKER:  Would you now turn to tab D-1?  I just want you to give us a brief overview of the history of the negotiations, or at least NRG's attempts to negotiate with the town about this renewal.

MR. BRISTOLL:  We first contacted the town in June of 2008 and requested that we get together to discuss the franchise renewal.

Through various correspondence and letters back and forth, we were finally able to...  Sorry, I thought I turned this off.

[Cell phone ringing]


MR. BRISTOLL:  Through various conversations, e-mails, letters between ourselves and between counsel, we attempted to have a meeting.  We were finally granted one in or about September 11th, 2008, and we met with Heather Adams and Mayor Bob Habkirk.

Subsequent -- at that point, we were told that we would receive a short list of issues that they had with the franchise renewal agreement that we had proposed to them.

MR. THACKER:  Sorry, when was that meeting again?

MR. BRISTOLL:  September 11th, I believe.

MR. THACKER:  Did you ever receive any comments from the town, and, if so, when?

MR. BRISTOLL:  The first comments we received from the town were on December 16th, 2008 in a meeting we had with them.

MR. THACKER:  What did you find out about the significance of the date of December 16?

MR. BRISTOLL:  It was the day following their town council meeting.

MR. THACKER:  And did they tell you, in all of the two months between your first meeting and December 16, that there was going to be a town council meeting on December 15?

MR. BRISTOLL:  No, I was not aware of that.

MR. THACKER:  Did they give any explanation for why they had to wait two months before they were willing to provide you with the comments you had been requesting?

MR. BRISTOLL:  No.

On December 16th, we received a copy of the Town of Aylmer's proposed franchise agreement, and inside that agreement we received our first mention of a three-year renewal term.

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  Now, let me ask you about the issue between NRG and the town, which I will put succinctly as the town is seeking -- NRG is seeking a 20-year renewal and the town is seeking a three-year renewal with a series of conditions.

Can you tell me why the length of the renewal is significant for NRG?  I would just refer you to tab D-4 of your evidence.

MR. BRISTOLL:  The length of the term of the renewal is significant, because we're coming off of a 25-year term and the town is proposing a three-year term.

A three-year term would raise serious concerns with lenders, after a 25-year term, as to whether or not we would be able to renew at the end of that three-year period.

MR. THACKER:  Why would the lenders be concerned about whether or not you would get a subsequent renewal after three years?

MR. BRISTOLL:  The value of a franchise is basically the length of the term of the franchise, and without any -- without any reason with which to explain to them how we would get a renewal, the value of our assets would deteriorate significantly.

MR. THACKER:  Have you had a chance to review the Town of Aylmer's evidence filed the day before yesterday?

MR. BRISTOLL:  I have.

MR. THACKER:  What is now apparent -- or what have you now learned about the rationale for the proposed three-year renewal by the town?

MR. BRISTOLL:  It would appear that the proposed renewal has nothing to do with us violating our franchise agreement in any way.

It would appear that what the Town of Aylmer is attempting to do is to line us up so that they can negotiate a renewal with somebody else.

MR. THACKER:  And why is that of concern to NRG?

MR. BRISTOLL:  Because it gives them an opportunity to negotiate with other parties in advance, and then it would significantly deteriorate our values and our viability and our ongoing ability to operate.

MR. THACKER:  And what will happen to the value of NRG's business and its assets if the franchise is not renewed at the end of three years, for example?

MR. BRISTOLL:  They would become valueless.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Bristoll, when you say that it's become apparent to you that the reason for the three-year term, proposed term, is to give the town an opportunity to negotiate with somebody else, who is the somebody else, or do you know?

MR. BRISTOLL:  I don't know who it is, but I can guess.

MR. KAISER:  Tell me what you believe it to be.

MR. BRISTOLL:  I think it would be Union Gas.

MR. KAISER:  And why do you -- leaving aside who it is, what is it you saw in their evidence that led you to that conclusion?

MR. BRISTOLL:  I think they have stated it overtly in the evidence.

MR. THACKER:  Could I ask you, Mr. Bristoll, to turn to the town's evidence -- and I can help the Panel.  Would you turn, firstly, to the tab 1-D.  And it's the second-last document.  And it is a letter dated January 9 from Mr. Tunley to Ms. Walli, Board secretary.  Second-last document in tab D.  I can show you. 

MR. BRISTOLL:  Which one is it?

MR. THACKER:  So does the Panel now have the January 9 letter?

MR. KAISER:  We do.

MR. THACKER:  I am going to refer you, Mr. Bristoll, to the second-last paragraph on page 2. 

MR. BRISTOLL:  Do you want me to read it?

MR. THACKER:  Just read it to yourself and tell me, initially, what is implied as a possibility by this paragraph. 

MR. BRISTOLL:  The implication that I read from it was, is that the town's request to have all of our franchise agreements renew at the same time is a strategy that will allow them to, en masse, go to another supplier and ask that supplier if they could take over our franchise area.

MR. THACKER:  And will you turn now to the next document in that book.  It is a letter dated January 29 from the Town of Bayham.

MR. BRISTOLL:  The Town of Bayham states --

MR. THACKER:  And look at paragraph 1.  And can you tell me what is now indicated to you by the Town of Bayham's revealing of the real rationale behind this challenge?

MR. BRISTOLL:  They state clearly:

"This will permit Bayham, Aylmer, and any of Malahide, Central Elgin, Thames Centre, and Southwest Oxford, which may request the same opportunity, the ability to offer combined, larger, and more populous customer (sic) base for consideration of any potential supplier.  A joint effort of this nature could achieve efficiencies and economies that would benefit..."

 MR. THACKER:  And are you aware -- or has the town ever explained to you any other possible rationale for trying to link up the expiry dates of the surrounding franchises? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  They have not. 

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Thacker, is there anything in the law that -- the regulations that says that at the end of a franchise agreement the town cannot solicit bids from other potential suppliers? 

MR. THACKER:  No, I don't think there is anything in the law, but you do have a criteria to apply.  The new supplier, of course, would have to build an entirely new infrastructure, which would cause the rates to go through the roof.

MR. KAISER:  Or buy the existing infrastructure from the existing franchise holder.

MR. THACKER:  Well, the problem is, what is being done here, in our submission, is that they are using your Board to lower the price that Union Gas is able to achieve the goal of acquiring our assets, right?

MR. KAISER:  Do we have anyone from Union Gas here, Mr. Millar? 

MR. MILLAR:  No.  They received notice, but I don't believe anyone is in attendance. 

MR. KAISER:  All right.

MR. THACKER:  They chose not to attend. 

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you. 

MR. THACKER:  So my submission will be you ought not to let your process to be used as a commercial tool to lower the price.

Now, I just want to move on to the rate-hearing issue.  It's been requested by the town as a condition of a renewal that you bring on a rate hearing.  And that is -- I am now going back to the NRG evidence.  Let me just find it for you. 

What is NRG's position with respect to a rate hearing?  And if you look at tab D-5.  Firstly, there have been a number of concerns about your actual rates.  Who sets the rates that you charge the people of Aylmer? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  Our rates have been established as just and reasonable with the Ontario Energy Board in all our previous rate cases.

MR. THACKER:  And so despite the approval of the OEB, the town is complaining that your rates are too high.  What is NRG's position with respect to bringing on a rate hearing, and why haven't you done so, so far? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  Prior to -- just recently, we have installed a, almost, I guess, in gross numbers a $9 million pipeline.  And up until this time we didn't know what the final costs on that pipeline would be. 

In addition to that, I think they have requested that we do one immediately, and I think that the outcome of this proceeding will significantly impact how we would go about putting a rates case together.  I think it will determine whether or not we will be required to amortize the balance of our assets over a short-term period, maybe, say, three, for example, or over a more reasonable period of time for recovery. 

On top of that, many of our core consultants are currently heavily involved in other rate proceedings in front of the Board. 

MR. KAISER:  When was the last time we looked at your rates?  Was it the '08 rates? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  No, it was the '07 rates. 

MR. KAISER:  '07 rates?  Thank you.

MR. THACKER:  And can you tell me why you started as early as last spring to attempt to determine the town's position on a renewal of this franchise? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  We wanted to be proactive, and we wanted to be able to have a renewal, an orderly renewal. 

MR. THACKER:  And if you had had the town's cooperation in either agreeing to a renewal or at least explaining their position earlier, what impact would that have had on your ability to bring on a rate hearing earlier? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  I think we would have been able to work with the town more closely on helping them satisfy some of their grievances with us, but I think that we've, for the last nine months, regardless, have always made efforts to improve the service we provide. 

MR. THACKER:  And lastly, you were -- sorry.  There have been a number of -- there was an issue raised with respect to customer complaints.  And in the town's evidence, there is a petition of a number of pages. 

Can you tell me when you first were given a copy of this petition by the town? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  The first copy I've received with the full petition was, I believe, two days ago, when we received the evidence that the town had submitted for this hearing. 

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  Have you ever seen part of that petition, ever, before the day before yesterday? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  I'd seen the first page.

MR. THACKER:  And how did you acquire the first page? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  There was an application brought forward by Union Gas to discontinue service, and in that application the first page of that petition was submitted as evidence. 

MR. THACKER:  So although this petition apparently existed in June or July, did the town ever give you a copy of this petition, other than the two -- other than in the evidence the day before yesterday, or one page in October? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  Not at all. 

MR. THACKER:  And once you received the one page in October, what did you do with it? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  We went through the names on the list, and we evaluated who and who was not customers, and because it was a petition that revolved around security-deposit issues, we assessed who on that list had either received a security deposit back in full or partially. 

We found that -- I think the front page has something like 12 names on it.  Four of the 12 names weren't customers.  Several of the customers had late-payment histories, and several of the customers also had received partial payments of the security deposit. 

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  And if you had been provided a copy of this petition when it was submitted to the town, would you have been able to carry out the same analysis with respect to the other pages of that petition?

MR. BRISTOLL:  We would have, yes. 

MR. THACKER:  And did the town ever explain to you why they never gave you a copy of this petition?  Or has anyone ever explained to you why you were not provided a copy of this petition? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  No. 

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  Another issue that's been raised is your relationship, NRG's relationship, with industrial customers.  And I will break them into two categories:  IGPC, being the new ethanol plant, and other customers. 

Tell me about the relationship with IGPC first. 

MR. BRISTOLL:  Our relationship with IGPC, I think, has probably been somewhat rocky.  I would like to point out, though, that throughout our relationship with them we have continued to work towards their goal of receiving gas supply in the Aylmer franchise area; that throughout the proceedings, even when IGPC was in default of their financial obligations, we continued to proceed forward.  I think the most poignant one would be the example of where we issued the tender for the contract to put the pipe in the ground.  At that point, we still had not received the letter of credit that was supposed to backstop that effort, but we pursued it anyways and put ourselves and our ratepayers at risk.

When it was time to flow gas --

MR. THACKER:  Talk to me about the construction first.  How did the construction proceed as compared to the anticipated timetable?

MR. BRISTOLL:  They had requested that we be available to supply gas on July 2nd of 2008, and on July 2nd, 2008 the pipe was standing, ready to do its job.

MR. THACKER:  Was IGPC doing its job of constructing its plant by July 2nd so it could receive the gas it demanded?

MR. BRISTOLL:  They weren't ready to receive gas for a month or two later.

Currently, we're providing them with gas with no difficulties whatsoever.  And we believe that we have potential for a strong relationship with them.

MR. THACKER:  Tell me about the security deposit.  There was an issue with the security deposit.  What was the issue and what was NRG's reaction in the face of that issue?

MR. BRISTOLL:  The security deposit was not delivered when we started to flow gas.  At that point, I guess we had the option of not flowing it, but we did anyways.

Initially, we couldn't work out whether or not it would expire properly or not, but that was resolved in the end, and we continued to flow gas.

MR. KAISER:  Are there any outstanding issues now, or is this all in the past?

MR. THACKER:  It's largely all in the past.  We still have yet to do the final cost reconciliation.  There are a few pieces of information that we need to do the final cost reconciliation, but that is it.

MR. KAISER:  Is that the case, Mr. Stoll?

MR. STOLL:  I'm not sure what information they need.  I think we have a significantly different version of some of the history.

MR. KAISER:  I don't want to go back in the history.  I just want to know, today, are you more or less satisfied with the service?

MR. STOLL:  The service, yes.  The reconciliation --

MR. KAISER:  That's an accounting issue.  They will sort that out in due course.

MR. STOLL:  Hopefully.

MR. KAISER:  Well, if you don't, you can always come here.  But there are no service issues?

MR. STOLL:  No.  The gas has been flowing.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. THACKER:  Can you tell me why NRG was so cautious in its approach to its dealings with IGPC?  Whose interests were at stake and why were you trying to protect those interests?

MR. BRISTOLL:  IGPC, relative to the rest of our system, was a huge new customer, and our approach has always been to protect both our ratepayers and to protect our shareholders.

So along the way, we ensured that all of the proper securities were in place in order to do what we needed to do.  We didn't want to leave anybody exposed due to the size of the risk that ethanol potentially presented to Natural Resource Gas.

And, at times, in order to keep the project going, we did expose ourselves to that risk.

MR. THACKER:  And, lastly, there is some suggestion, although it is quite vague in the town's evidence, that there's been an impact on new economic development or other industrial customers.

Have you been made aware by the town of any specific example of allegation that NRG has somehow impaired or deterred somebody from locating in this area or operating in this area?

MR. BRISTOLL:  The town has mentioned it to us, and I believe they mentioned to us in the meeting of September 11th.  At that time, we asked them to provide us with a list of companies that have stated specifically that they would not come to Aylmer because of Natural Resource Gas or gas supply issues.

We have also told them that we would be willing to work with them; if they would give us the names of any new companies that approached them, that we would work hand in hand with them in order to assist in allowing them to relocate here and assure them that they would receive the natural gas supply they required.

MR. THACKER:  And after making the requests of the town, has the town ever responded or given you any information or specifics?

MR. BRISTOLL:  No.

MR. THACKER:  In the evidence that was filed on October 18, there was a reference to Steelcase being the only specific example that NRG is aware of.

Can you describe that particular issue?

MR. BRISTOLL:  Steelcase is a company -- I believe they have two facilities.  They have one down by Lake Erie and they have another one in the Town of Aylmer.

They take -- they're fuelled by propane and not by natural gas.  They have been around for an awful long time in this franchise area and they always used propane.  We have approached them several times to bring them on to the natural gas system, but they're very comfortable with their propane supplier, and they have a long-term relationship with that company and see no need to switch.

MR. THACKER:  So have they altered their operations in any way as a result of your efforts to try to line them up as a customer?

MR. BRISTOLL:  I would believe not.

MR. THACKER:  Those are my questions.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Tunley.
Cross-examination by Mr. Tunley:

MR. TUNLEY:  Thank you, Mr. Kaiser.

Mr. Bristoll, just by way of background and yourself, you are not an expert, I take it, in valuing franchises in the gas sector?

MR. BRISTOLL:  No, I'm not.

MR. TUNLEY:  How long have you been in the gas business?

MR. BRISTOLL:  Since 2005.

MR. TUNLEY:  And your job currently with NRG, that's your first experience in the gas business; is that right?

MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  You mentioned you had discussions with the Town of Aylmer about franchise renewal commencing in June 2008, and I would just like to deal with those.

You will agree with me, I take it, the town never said to you in those negotiations, at any time, that it would not renew the franchise agreement, did it?

MR. BRISTOLL:  They never said they would not renew it, and they never said they wouldn't renew it in the standard form rate.

MR. TUNLEY:  They always said to you, in fact, that the discussions that you wanted to have and they wanted to have would be about terms in addition to the standard form Board-approved franchise agreement; isn't that right?

MR. BRISTOLL:  They said they would provide us with comments.

MR. TUNLEY:  Comments on the terms and suggestions for additional provisions in the agreement?

MR. BRISTOLL:  Not the terms.  Additional provisions.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.

And the other thing that they were going to talk to you about was about the length of the term of the contract, right, of the renewal term?

MR. BRISTOLL:  That was never brought forward.

MR. TUNLEY:  That was never brought forward?

MR. BRISTOLL:  No.

MR. TUNLEY:  Never brought forward to you, then?

MR. BRISTOLL:  It was not.

MR. TUNLEY:  Did you bring it up?

MR. BRISTOLL:  I had assumed that we would go with a standard renewal term.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  Let's just deal with that issue for a moment.

Your concern, as I understand it from your material and particularly tab D-5, the appropriate term of a new franchise agreement -- your concern centres on the term of your long-term debt; is that correct?

MR. BRISTOLL:  I'm just going to go to D-5 first.

MR. TUNLEY:  Sorry, D-4, I think -- tab D-4 of your material, Mr. Bristoll.

MR. THACKER:  Sorry, Mr. Bristoll has an untabbed version of the evidence.  I am going to give him a tabbed version.

MR. BRISTOLL:  I have it right here.  I found it.  Go ahead, please.

MR. TUNLEY:  The focus of your concern, as I understand it, is the length of the term of your various longer-term debt placements at the moment; is that right?  Is that fair?

MR. BRISTOLL:  My concern is the ability to renew that debt.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  And you will agree with me that both of your current long-term debt financings are five-year commitments, not 20-year commitments; right?

MR. BRISTOLL:  They're standard five-year terms.

MR. TUNLEY:  And, in fact, there has been no 20-year debt at NRG in the time that you have been with NRG at all, has there?

MR. BRISTOLL:  We had a 15-year term with Imperial Tobacco.

MR. TUNLEY:  Prior to the current five-year debt instrument?

MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  My understanding is that you're talking about the debt that was placed in March of 2006, right, with the Bank of Nova Scotia?

MR. BRISTOLL:  That is a five-year term.

MR. TUNLEY:  And that's on a demand basis?  The term can be shortened at any time by the lender?

MR. BRISTOLL:  That is correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  And just, at the time you were able to renew that debt for a period of five years, you will agree with me that at that time there was less than three years to run on the franchise agreement with the town; correct? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  That is correct. 

MR. TUNLEY:  And there was less than five years to run on your franchise agreement with some of the other municipalities. 

MR. BRISTOLL:  That's also correct. 

MR. TUNLEY:  And the second time that you renewed your debt or placed new debt, just over $5 million -- I'm not sure of the exact figure for that debt.  It isn't in your financial statements.  But I understand it was in October 2008, just a few months ago.

MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  And that's five-year debt as well?

MR. BRISTOLL:  Five-year term, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  And that's placed with only months to go on the term of your franchise agreement with the town and less than three years on most of the other municipal franchises that you have, right? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct. 

MR. TUNLEY:  And if your concern is uncertainty of renewal of debt, because of franchises coming up in the course of their term, would you not agree it would be preferable, if that is your real concern, to have all of these municipal franchise agreements coming up on the same schedule at the same time so that you could predict and this Board could predict and the municipalities could approach that issue on a one-time basis together, rather than staggered over a five- or six-year period, as currently appears?  Wouldn't that be preferable?

MR. BRISTOLL:  The relevant issue isn't how many years are left on the franchises.  The relevant issue is whether or not there will be renewals.  So if you have a three-year renewal with a franchise that represents 30 percent of your customer base, and there is no certainty of a renewal beyond that period of time, I don't -- I am not aware of anybody that would be willing to provide you with additional financing.

And the closest analogy I can make to this is that if any one of us was to go to the bank tomorrow and tell them that they need to renew their home mortgage, but they're about to lose their job and there's no certainty of future income, the likelihood that the bank would renew your mortgage and give you the money would be significantly reduced. 

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  You would agree with me, though, that if your employer in those circumstances were to come with you to the bank and say, We're very happy with this employee, and we're almost certainly going to renew his employment or her employment after a period of time, there wouldn't be that concern, now, would there?

MR. BRISTOLL:  If the Town of Aylmer was willing to go with us to our financiers and guarantee that they would renew, I think that would be a very different story.

MR. TUNLEY:  And you understand we're here because they have set out some terms on which they would do that, they would renew the agreement that they have with you, right? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  I think the evidence shows --

MR. TUNLEY:  Well, let's get your --

MR. THACKER:  Sorry, let him finish, please.  Can I ask the Panel to direct the counsel to allow the witness to complete his answer?

MR. KAISER:  Go ahead, Mr. Bristoll. 

MR. BRISTOLL:  I believe the evidence shows that the town's intent is not to let us renew, but is to find someone else to replace us.

MR. KAISER:  Let me understand.  I thought I read the evidence, as Mr. Tunley suggested, that they were prepared to renew if you accepted the conditions they set out.  Is that not the case? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  Well, in any of the discussions that we've had, we have said that we would be willing to accept the majority of the conditions that were --

MR. KAISER:  You were prepared to accept two of the conditions.

MR. BRISTOLL:  Well, the GDAR ones for sure, yes, because we see no issues with those.

MR. KAISER:  What are the conditions you're opposed to?

MR. BRISTOLL:  The three-year renewal term. 

MR. KAISER:  Other than that, the conditions are acceptable? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  Effectively, yes. 

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you. 

MR. TUNLEY:  May I have a moment? 

MR. KAISER:  Yes, certainly.

Mr. Millar, why don't we take a 15-minute break to allow counsel to get organized.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you. 

--- Recess taken at 10:40 a.m.


--- Upon resuming at 10:53 a.m.

MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.

Mr. Tunley.

MR. TUNLEY:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Bristoll, I just want to be clear with you.  You understand that the other terms that have been put forward by the town were put forward for the purpose of improving past relationship issues so that, after a three-year term, there would be some hope, opportunity, of renewing again on a longer basis?  Did you understand that that is the purpose?

MR. BRISTOLL:  Not at all.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  I understand what you have just said on the record is that but for the three-year term, you would be content with all of the other conditions in schedule A to the town's proposed franchise agreement.

Have I got that correctly?

MR. BRISTOLL:  We are not content with lining up the franchise renewal dates.  I want to make that clear, okay?  We would be content with following the provisions of GDAR, which is, I think, the bulk of the conditions there, in order to I think assist with security deposit issues, and stuff like that, and putting an appropriate rate case in.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  Well, that's two of the issues.  There are others.  There's a request by the town that you put security deposits into trust accounts.  Is that an acceptable condition that you can live with?

MR. BRISTOLL:  The difficulty we have with that one has got more to do with logistics than anything.  It is just how do you do that and how do you manage such a trust account?

We have strong financials.  We have good cash reserves.  And we do believe, quite strongly, that there was a proceeding and that that proceeding addressed the concerns of 2.6 million or more customers, and that in that proceeding, in the proposed changes to I guess natural gas security deposit issues, it was not raised as an issue that was felt necessary for a regulated gas utility.

MR. TUNLEY:  You are talking about the 2006 rate proceeding?

MR. BRISTOLL:  No, no, I'm talking about this GDAR proceeding that the Town of Aylmer submitted their suggestions for.

MR. KAISER:  There has been no final ruling on that, though; is that not correct?

MR. BRISTOLL:  That's my understanding, also.  But we would follow the provisions of GDAR.

MR. TUNLEY:  The Board's proposed amendments to those provisions?

MR. BRISTOLL:  The final decision.  It seems a bit unfair to implement the proposed ones, and then find out six months later that we are going to re-implement something else.  I think it would just create customer confusion.

MR. TUNLEY:  Well, that's what's been asked for is to commit to implement them now.  They're the Board's proposals.

MR. KAISER:  I think I can assist you and Mr. Thacker on that.

You are absolutely right this matter came before the Board and there is a process, but there was recently a decision of the Gas Committee, which I suppose has to be dealt with by the full Board, but that decision was, given that Union and Enbridge were opposed to those changes and, in fact, argued that the Board didn't have jurisdiction, and, further, said, There are no complaints with respect to us, these are all NRG complaints, the Board, at least at this time, said, you know, We're not going to put these other two utilities through this exercise.  The problem is NRG, if there is a problem.

MR. BRISTOLL:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. KAISER:  And see if you can deal with it in the course of this franchise proceeding that we're now starting on today.

And you would have no reason to know that, but the Board, for other reasons, would like to deal with the security deposit issues here, because we don't see a need, given the objection of the other two gas utilities, to create a whole new process for them, when there is no problem there. 

So I just give you that background, and the Board's rationale at the moment is we should see if we can deal with them in the context of the concerns here.

MR. TUNLEY:  I guess for me, Mr. Bristoll, that focusses -- my question is:  Are you prepared to meet the terms of the proposed GDAR changes even if they are not imposed on Enbridge and Union?

MR. BRISTOLL:  I think our current policy, as it stands, satisfies an awful lot of -- the significant changes that we would have to make would be to take all of the communications we have out there right now and compile them and turn them into a policy, that we would change our policy from one of granting credit based upon a credit history versus a payment history, which we have effectively done already.

I have difficulty with the trust fund issue.  I just don't know how one would facilitate it.  I think with the other issues, though, we could probably live with it.

MR. TUNLEY:  Mr. Kaiser, just to -- I was hoping that the exchange earlier might shorten my cross and I could cut to some of the shorter issues, but I think in light of what you have just said and where we are in the process, I better go through what I had prepared.

MR. KAISER:  That's fine.

MR. TUNLEY:  I just note that.

MR. KAISER:  That's fine.

MR. TUNLEY:  Let me -- just before I leave the issue of length of term, Mr. Bristoll, is it black-and-white choice between three years and 20 years, or given that your debt is five-year debt, is a four- or five-year term of renewal something you can contemplate?

MR. BRISTOLL:  What we would like to see is the standard renewal term that you would get on a renewal.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.

MR. BRISTOLL:  Which I believe is well in excess of three years.

MR. TUNLEY:  Let me explore one other issue, which is that even -- as I understand it, even if we were to agree on a term for the Town of Aylmer and terms that would apply to service in the Town of Aylmer, I understand you are not prepared to align the other franchises or extend those terms to the township of Malahide, or Bayham or other municipalities in your area, is that --

MR. THACKER:  I am going to object here, because -- for two reasons.  These issues are not on the table.  The question is irrelevant, in my submission.  But, more importantly, what we have is a kind of sideways allegation, purportedly on behalf of a number of municipalities that chose not to intervene.

They are not here.  They are not -- they have not brought forth evidence.  Other than this letter from the Town of Bayham, that actually reveals the true purpose of this strategy here, no one else is here to complain, and so to get into an examination of aligning renewal terms for other franchises that don't expire for several years, in my submission, is not relevant to the issue before you today.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Tunley.

MR. TUNLEY:  Mr. Kaiser, it is relevant.  I mean, the current patchwork of renewal dates makes no sense.  It means, effectively, that whatever the Board or the parties could agree to today, you know, may or may not extend to the other municipalities, and they may or may not be back here in two years' time or three years' time or more years' time raising the same issues.

The approach that we've taken - I outlined it in my letter of January 9th to the Board - is that we want to address these issues for this franchise area.  Ours is the first case to come forward, but the issues that we raise are generic.

The whole purpose of a short renewal -- there are two purposes of a short renewal.  One is to address some recent historic relationship issues between the town -- well, not so much the town, but the customers of NRG and the utility, to try an address those in a formal way in the franchise agreement. 

But the second is to bring these franchises together so that the issue can be addressed more squarely and all of the options are available.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  To the extent that they're generic issues, there are what, five other municipalities?

MR. TUNLEY:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  We don't know, because we haven't heard the evidence from the other five, so Mr. Thacker is right about that.  But in due course, we will hear it, I suppose.  Those agreements will be coming up.  As I understand it, they all come up over the next couple of years.

So I just have one question.  This three-year term that you are proposing, does that mean that -- what's the latest date that one of the six comes up? 

MR. TUNLEY:  If you turn to our pre-filed evidence, they're all set out in -- it's tab 1 of our evidence binder, Mr. Kaiser.  In paragraph 3, we have the five municipalities lined up.  Some of them have more than one franchise agreement, simply because of amalgamation history. 

MR. KAISER:  So am I right that 2016, that's the --

MR. TUNLEY:  Is the last.

MR. KAISER:  That's the last.

MR. TUNLEY:  That's the Municipality of Central Elgin.

MR. KAISER:  So this three years isn't going to take us to that, is it?

MR. TUNLEY:  It's not.  The three years takes us to 2012, when the township of Malahide, Corporation of Municipality of Thames Centre, and Bayham all come up.

MR. KAISER:  So are those the big ones?  I mean, if you are trying to coordinate them -- I am just trying to understand the proposition here.  If the deal is that we want to have them all terminate at the same date, three years isn't going to get us there anyway, right?  As this is set out.  But it will get some of them there.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.

MR. KAISER:  So is your logic that, well, we at least want the big ones to come up at the same date, or what?

MR. TUNLEY:  The problem is that if you go past 2012, then you are going to have to have three applications from three municipalities, because of the wording of section 10 of the Municipal Franchises Act, which requires an application within the year preceding or prior -- at the time of expiry. 

So we were trying to pick a date that would bring the first group in, and then presumed that the Board would take it forward from there, a step at a time.  That's the thinking.  But --

MR. KAISER:  So the first year was to get you to 2012. 

MR. TUNLEY:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  The three years --

MR. TUNLEY:  Three years is to get us to 2012 --

MR. KAISER:  All right.

MR. TUNLEY:  -- when three other municipalities come available.

MR. KAISER:  All right. 

MR. TUNLEY:  Now, I do point out, Mr. Thacker is correct that the letter from the Town of Bayham has a slightly different concept.  They were thinking of a five-year term, and that just reflects different approaches of different municipalities. 

The ultimate issue is in the hands of this Board.  I mean, to step back, each of these issues is going to come forward as a section 10 application unless this Board sets some parameters for it that everybody understands. 

The municipalities, as I understand the evidence, have talked about this.  They want to get together.  They want to get on the same timetable with each other, so that it isn't scattered, as it is at the moment. 

MR. THACKER:  I have to object now, because I do want to put this on the record.  Mr. Tunley acts for the Town of Aylmer.  He does not act for any of the other municipalities.  He tried to solicit their support because he wants to use them as part of his strategy to displace NRG, and not one of them came here. 

So he doesn't have any authority to speak for what they will or won't do, whether or not there ever will be another section 10 hearing, because it is only the Town of Aylmer that is using this strategy so far.  Nobody else has come to give evidence. 

I would also say that Mr. Tunley's submission that the mere existence of a patchwork is nonsense.  The entire province is a patchwork.  He doesn't understand how the system works.

As you know, there are staggered renewal dates across the entire province.  On his rationale you ought to truncate them all and make them one, because he thinks that is better for public policy.  We all know that is not right.

But I just make that point.  Patchwork alone has nothing to do with public policy.  It is all about furthering the private objectives of the Town of Aylmer and perhaps somebody else who wants to replace NRG. 

So he has got no standing to speak on behalf of the other municipalities.  I would also say that he has got no evidence that you ought to place any weight on.  We all know the best-evidence rule.  If any of those other municipalities had a strong position, they would have come here and expressed it.  They haven't introduced any evidence.  All we have are sideways letters.  And the only real letter that you have is the Town of Bayham.

If you look at the other letters, they have nothing to do with supporting this strategy of unified renewals.  All they support is the intervention of the town.  Most of them are dated in October.  They support the intervention from a previous hearing. 

So it is really only the Town of Bayham that you have, and you have a hearsay letter, and it is clearly one that was solicited by Aylmer, if you read it carefully.  It's something the Town of Aylmer put the Town of Bayham up to.

If they really believed what was going on here, they would be here.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Thacker, is that right?  I am looking at tab D, which is a letter from the Thames Centre.  And that was the resolution of council of Thames Centre supporting the Town of Aylmer, but that wasn't with respect to this proceeding.  That was with respect to the previous proceeding we had here dealing with the Union application to cease service. 

MR. THACKER:  That's quite correct.  So I say you should place no weight on suggestions as to what will or won't happen in the future.  We may never have another contested renewal.  Nobody else has come forward to say they intend to oppose renewal or even to suggest any other terms, and you ought not to entertain this.  It's not the best evidence. 

MR. KAISER:  Well, Mr. Tunley, I think Mr. Thacker is right, but I am not sure that much turns on it at this point.  We will hear from those towns when we hear from them.  We are just trying to understand your rationale for the three years. 

MR. TUNLEY:  Yes. 

MR. KAISER:  And as I understand it, it is to, if I can use the vernacular, put NRG on a short leash, number one, to see if some of these matters can be dealt with to your satisfaction, the satisfaction of your client.  And the other is, you've said, to coincide -- to line up some of these renewal dates.

And my question simply was, the three years that you have proposed would do that, I guess, at least with respect to two of the additional ones.  They may decide to join with you or not join with you, but at least on the face of it, three of the six on a three-year renewal would be on the same timeline, more or less. 

MR. TUNLEY:  Yes.  Can I just comment on a couple of things?  One that Mr. Thacker said, which I think is not correct, and I would like to just be clear, the letter from the township of Malahide, February the 5th, clearly -- it's in tab D, second from the back -- clearly does endorse the position in my letter to the Board --

MR. KAISER:  Let us get that. 

MR. TUNLEY:  That's the Malahide.  There was a resolution of their council.

MR. KAISER:  This is a letter of February 5th?

MR. TUNLEY:  Yes. 

MR. KAISER:  All right.  In any event, we're not going to -- I think, Mr. Thacker, we are not going to put much weight on these letters.  Nobody is here.  We don't have any witnesses.  We don't have to deal with it anyway.  We just wanted to understand your theory of the three years. 

MR. TUNLEY:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  I think we have that clear. 

MR. TUNLEY:  And let me just be clear on that.  The other thing is, in terms of your comment about a short leash, I am asking this Board to put NRG on a short term, yes.  But it's this Board's decision.  Very clearly, under section 10 of the Municipal Franchises Acts, you have the authority. 

So that's what I am asking you to do.  And there is a background to why.  But one of the objectives -- and it is important -- is to bring them together. 

I agree with your observation.  July -- sorry, the 2012 date is the first of the additional ones.  It is also the two largest, as I understand it.

MR. KAISER:  Well, that was the other part of my question.  I was trying to think if there is some logic to this, that --

MR. TUNLEY:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  -- you cared less about the 2016 one.

MR. TUNLEY:  The other practical -- yes.  And they're the ones that are likely to be relevant for banking purposes, for example, so -- but the last of them is 2016.  The only problem with choosing that date was that you would then face interim renewal applications from each of the four others. 

So somewhere in there is a logical date, and all I am saying to -- through the witness and to this Board is, let's find a date when all of these can come together. 

What I am hearing from Mr. Bristoll and which is relevant is, he doesn't want them to come together.

MR. KAISER:  No, we understand his position.

While you are on your feet, your client's position, with respect to the rate case, what is that all about?  You don't want to renew the franchise until you know what the rates are going to be?  Is that basically it?

MR. TUNLEY:  No.  Not at all.  It is simply to commit to file a rate case.  We are prepared to live with the Board's process.  And as I understand it -- I was going to explore it with the witness, but the main concern is the cost of doing that.

I mean, we may not need an oral hearing of the rate case.  It may focus on discrete issues that have changed since 2006, and it may be a very focused enquiry.  But there are significant issues that have been raised since 2006 that we believe should be addressed in a rate hearing, one of which is the Class C preferred-share issue and whether it is properly debt or equity, another of which --

MR. KAISER:  Hasn't the Board already ruled on that? 

MR. TUNLEY:  Yes.  But the other issue is the security deposits, because -- and it is clear in the evidence.  I don't think there is going to be a dispute.  But at the time of the last rate case, there was $105,000 in security deposits.  There is now $757,000. 

MR. KAISER:  So is it fair to say that this rate-case issue is just a security deposit times two?  I mean, is it the security deposit that's the real -- outside of the alignment issue, which we understand --

MR. TUNLEY:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  -- is it really the security deposit that is driving your opposition? 

MR. TUNLEY:  There are really three areas.  There are security deposits, a customer complaint process that is in writing and that gels with the Board's process, and there is a written policy that facilitates industrial, commercial and retail development in this area.

This is an area that has the need for industrial, regional -- sorry, retail and commercial development, and we need a gas supplier that is positively a partner in that process.  We don't feel that past history shows NRG in that category, and we are looking for a commitment from NRG to work with us in that regard.

I actually think what Mr. Bristoll is saying to you in evidence is they're prepared to live with all of that.  They think that there's a hidden agenda here to go to somebody else -- I mean, we can hear from Ms. Adams.

That is not the case.

If we cannot solve the relationship issues, then all of the municipalities should have all of their options available.  But that's a matter for the Board to decide, not for them to assert unilaterally, and they can only decide that together.

MR. KAISER:  Tell me this.  What stops Union from coming in here right now and laying pipe to the ethanol plant, say? Anything?

MR. TUNLEY:  The franchise agreement.

MR. KAISER:  Can your client -- you are not restricted to one franchise agreement, are you?

MR. TUNLEY:  No, but under the franchise agreement, the -- as I understand the scheme, the exclusive right to lay pipe is given to --

MR. KAISER:  Is it exclusive?

MR. TUNLEY:  Yes, it is.  It is in all of these agreements.

MR. KING:  I didn't think any franchise agreements are exclusive in Ontario.

MR. TUNLEY:  There are bypass conditions.  I mean the recent greenfield case indicates that even when there is an agreement that purports to be exclusive, the Board can --

MR. KAISER:  You gentlemen can address it, but, I mean, as to whether Union is lurking in the wings and their only way of getting into this market is to buy out NRG, I just wanted some understanding on that point.

If Union really wanted desperately to come in here, in my understanding, they could come in here and provide service, if that was their real objective.  In any event, you will address that, to the extent it is relevant.  I am not sure it is.

Let me just -- I don't mean to interrupt you and I shouldn't, but I am a little bit confused or don't understand why it is you want the security deposits to be in trust at your client as opposed to what every gas company does; they have, I guess, trust accounts and they're dealt with. 

Is it you think NRG is going to run away with the money, or what?

MR. TUNLEY:  Well, the issue was addressed squarely in the preceding hearing involving Union Gas as an unsecured creditor, which is all their customers are.

This Board has decided in the decision, which you will find -- actually, your decision is at tab F of our material, and I don't think there is any doubt about it.

MR. KAISER:  So you are actually worried that the utility is financially unstable and the security deposits are at risk unless they're moved to somebody else's trust account; is that what you're saying?

MR. TUNLEY:  That is exactly what Union came to this Board and said.

MR. KAISER:  What do you say?

MR. TUNLEY:  This Board has said they are.

MR. KAISER:  Is that your position now, that this utility is in a unique situation, financially unsustainable and that we need the securities deposits to be moved to a safer spot?

MR. TUNLEY:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Go ahead.

MR. TUNLEY:  Mr. Bristoll, just to highlight that issue, if you would just turn to the prefiled evidence of Ms. Adams for the town at tab 1 of the town's binder, and go with me to page 10, paragraph 32?

I take it there is no issue with the figures set out here, that in 2005 you had $105,000 in security deposits in your financial statements, and that was the figure used for the 2006 rate case?

Are you aware of that?

MR. BRISTOLL:  I have no problem with those numbers.

MR. TUNLEY:  And that it's increased each year, 280,000 by three times the next year, doubling again to 603,000 in 2007, and going up now in 2008 to 757,000?

MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  And that is almost 10 percent of your entire capital requirement, debt and equity, for running this company is now security deposits?

MR. KAISER:  Do those deposits count as part of your equity in your financial statements?

MR. BRISTOLL:  No.  They're not equity.  They're liability.

MR. KAISER:  Right.

MR. TUNLEY:  As I understand it, Mr. Bristoll, you pay 1 percent, if and when those are returned, is that right, interest on those deposits?

MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct.  I would like to remind you, though, that the proposed GDAR amendments require that we use the Bank of Canada rate less 2 percent, and the Bank of Canada rate currently is 3.5 percent.

MR. TUNLEY:  You will agree with me that currently you set the rate at 1 percent regardless of the Bank of Canada, where it goes; right?

MR. BRISTOLL:  It is currently 1 percent; that is correct.

MR. KAISER:  It might be higher than the Bank of Canada rate today.

MR. BRISTOLL:  Well, that was our thought.  We're hoping the customers don't have to give us some money. 

MR. TUNLEY:  Let me come to this issue again.  But that is, you will agree, a change in your circumstances from 2005, the rate case that you filed, to today, is you have had a 650 percent increase in your security deposits?

MR. BRISTOLL:  Yes.  Let me give you some background on that, okay?

MR. TUNLEY:  Just first of all agree with that?

MR. BRISTOLL:  I do agree with that, yes.  The security deposits are not intended to be a cash grab of any sort.  They're intended to ensure that none of the ratepayers are harmed by those ratepayers that show cracks in their financial armour, if I could put it that way.

The policy is designed to return security deposits to those who should have them returned to them.

I would like to point out that in 2008 we collected $292,000 in security deposits and refunded $138,000 in security deposits.  I would like to point out that in 2009 year to date, we have collected $40,000 in security deposits and have refunded $83,220 in security deposits.

We are only doing it to protect everybody's interests.  Prior to that point in time, when you saw the number of 105 and 280, security deposits weren't taken as seriously as they should be, but we ran into a few circumstances with tobacco farmers, in particular, who had quite large bills who did not pay those bills for significant periods of time, and those bills ran up to really large sums of money. 

And it dawned upon us that in a community that unfortunately is finding itself in somewhat of an economic downturn, that it was incumbent upon us to ensure that the rest of our ratepayers did not suffer as a result of those ratepayers that could not afford to pay their bills.

MR. TUNLEY:  And you will agree with me that a rate case that examined that issue of the impact of this change of circumstances from 105,000 to 750,000 and whether that is really, as you say, protecting the other ratepayers or whether it is a means of financing the operations of your company, that's a change in circumstances that a rate case could explore; right?

MR. BRISTOLL:  Sure.

MR. TUNLEY:  Let me go to another change of circumstances, and that's the finding by the Board that your class C shares are retractable and should be considered to be debt rather than equity.

MR. THACKER:  Can you just point him to the finding you are referring to, since you have it in your book?

MR. TUNLEY:  Yes.  It is in the decision of the Board at -- it's at tab F, the decision of the Board in the recent Union case.

MR. THACKER:  Can you point out the finding that they are debt?

MR. TUNLEY:  Well, there's the -- on page 3 under the heading "NRG's Financial Status".

MR. THACKER:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  There is the recital of the evidence of Mr. Pallett, your auditor, indicating that they should -- were to be treated under GAAP as a liability.

MR. THACKER:  I was looking for the word "debt".

MR. TUNLEY:  Well, liability is debt; right?

MR. THACKER:  You said debt, so I just want to be clear, when you're putting a proposition to the witness, that you're putting it fairly.  So if that is the provision you're talking about, then we now know what you're speaking of.

MR. TUNLEY:  I am also speaking of the finding of the Board at tab 4 -- sorry, page 4 of the decision, at the end of the third full paragraph, which recognizes that there's been a $13 million reduction in equity and a $13 million increase in liability, which is significant.  And NRG is now in a negative equity position.  So clearly, whether you like the word "debt" or not, Mr. Thacker, that is not equity, all right?

And then two paragraphs down, in the Board's view, disclosure of this circumstance is said to be a significant -- significantly increases the financial risk associated with NRG. 

So those are the findings that I am referring to.

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  So now I have your point.  So your question was...? 

MR. TUNLEY:  My question was, just to confirm, as I understand it, there was some 4 million-600-and -- sorry, $4,064,000 of this retractable shares were treated as equity for purposes of your 2006 rate case. 

Do you agree with that, Mr. Bristoll?  The exact number is $4,064,219.

MR. BRISTOLL:  Can you rephrase the question, please?

MR. TUNLEY:  Do you agree with me that the equity that was considered by the Board in your 2006 rate case of $4,064,219 in equity is very largely the same Class C retractable shares that are referred to in the Board's decision in the Union case recently?

MR. BRISTOLL:  Our equity at that time was a combination of our shares plus our retained earnings. 

MR. KAISER:  Can I just stop you there, Mr. Tunley? 

Mr. Bristoll, while we're on this decision, at the top of page 5, you will recall that part of the Board's decision was that you were required to file your audited financial statements within four months of the year's end; i.e., by January 31st the following year.  Has that happened?

MR. BRISTOLL:  Definitely.

MR. KAISER:  You have filed -- 

MR. BRISTOLL:  Oh, yes, definitely.

MR. TUNLEY:  They're in the evidence before you, Mr. Kaiser, at tab E.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you. 

MR. TUNLEY:  And just if we can go there, Mr. Bristoll.  I don't think the presentation has changed.  If you look at your -- I think it is the balance sheet on page 3 of the statements, at tab E. 

MR. BRISTOLL:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  You see there there is the $13 million of shareholders' equity, with a reference to share capital as described in note 11, right? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  I see that, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Did you say there was retained earnings?  I don't see retained earnings here.

MR. BRISTOLL:  I said the combination of the two.  That was a deficit, yes. 

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  So it's -- the deficit is what you were referring to, with a net today of approximately -- or September 30th of approximately 4,600,000.

MR. BRISTOLL:  I think in every rates case since these shares have been in existence it has been determined that they are equity.  There is a difference between GAAP and what we're doing for rate-making purposes, and then for rate-making purposes these shares have always considered to be equity, not debt.

MR. TUNLEY:  In the past.  Just -- sorry, in the past that's been the case, right? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  It is a rate-case issue, so, yes. 

MR. TUNLEY:  Yes.  And in 2006, these four-odd million dollars' worth of net share value were considered equity, and you got -- you are currently receiving, in rates, a 9.2 percent return on that $4 million, correct?

MR. BRISTOLL:  That is correct. 

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  And you will agree with me that the circumstance we now have -- that is, those have been disclosed by your auditors to be a liability and found by the Board to be a liability -- may -- may affect how those are treated for rate purposes.  I understand your position is it wouldn't.  But it may, right? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  I agree with you that for GAAP purposes it would appear that they would be a liability.  But I do not believe that the Board has found that they are a liability for rate-making purposes.  I believe that the Board recognizes that they are equity. 

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  But you will agree with me that if, in a new rate case, the Board were to determine that they are a liability or debt for rate-making purposes, that would affect the returns that you are entitled to as a company, and that, in turn, would affect rates, right? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  If that was the case, yes. 

MR. TUNLEY:  In addition, in the rate decision, as I read it, you were assessed with a 50-basis-point risk premium, and in light of the Board's findings about risk in the company, that may change as well, right?

MR. BRISTOLL:  I believe many things could change. 

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  And so just, those are some factors that could have changed between 2006 and today; in fact, have changed.  But there may be others as well is what you're saying, right?

MR. BRISTOLL:  On that issue, I don't think anything has changed.  I think that what has changed is how GAAP is presenting them.  I don't think from a rate-making perspective anything has changed.

MR. TUNLEY:  Well, what we can agree on is that if there's a change in risk related to the disclosure of your retractable shares as a liability and not as equity, that is not a change in risk associated with NRG's regulated business.  That's a change in risk that is solely attributable to your share capital structure and your shareholders' affairs, correct? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  What has changed is how things are reported, not the substance of what we have.

MR. TUNLEY:  Well...

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Tunley, just in the interests of understanding where you are going, we understand the issues.  We are familiar with this issue.  It no doubt will arise in a rate case.  But we are not deciding that today. 

MR. TUNLEY:  No.

MR. KAISER:  Are you trying to get NRG to agree to some of these propositions now, or are you just flagging them, or are you actually saying, Board, you shouldn't renew this franchise agreement.  This utility is not financially viable?  Where are we going with this evidence? 

MR. TUNLEY:  I am going to ask you to renew it for three years, but with the conditions, including requiring NRG to have an immediate referral to a rate case. 

MR. KAISER:  And that's -- so they have a rate case and we issue a decision.  What's that got to do with anything about the three years? 

MR. TUNLEY:  That would set rates on a go-forward basis.

MR. KAISER:  You just want to make sure they come in for a rate case, because you think there might be a rate reduction, because the share capital might be adjusted or some such thing.

MR. TUNLEY:  And because this Board may address whether it is proper to continue using the security deposits at the level they're at as working capital.  Yes, those are the key issues.  There may be others.

MR. KAISER:  Using the security deposits as working capital, that is quite different from letting the town hold the funds in trust, I take it?  Or is it one and the same? 

MR. TUNLEY:  Let me be clear.  We have no desire to hold the funds in trust.  The request, in our proposal, is that NRG set up a trust account in its affairs and hold this money in trust for their customers.

MR. KAISER:  Oh, I somehow thought that you wanted the town to do it, but...

MR. TUNLEY:  No. 

MR. KAISER:  All right. 

MR. TUNLEY:  No.  Just as a general point, we are not here to get into the business of running NRG's business --

MR. KAISER:  So let me understand.  I think we get it.  This business about the rate case, just to summarize what I think your position is, is that Board -- you have had this case dealing with these preferred shares.  We know there is an issue.  We think that will have implications.  We think it will have implications for the rate case.  It may have rate implications.  We just want to make sure it gets dealt with in a timely fashion.  We want a commitment that NRG is going to file in a certain time frame. 

MR. TUNLEY:  Yes.  And if you --

MR. KAISER:  And what is your objection to that, Mr. Bristoll?  That seems reasonable.  They're not asking for any concession today.  They are just saying, Tell us when you are going to file, so we can get these issues dealt with.

It is a live issue.  You recognize it.  We recognize it.  Nobody is kidding themselves.  You are quite right.  It hasn't been dealt with in a rate case, but it will get dealt with. 

What's wrong with committing that -- when do you want the rate case?  In the next year?  What's the time frame? 

MR. KING:  NRG's fiscal end is an October 1 start date.

MR. KAISER:  What is your proposal? 

MR. TUNLEY:  In our schedule A -- you should have regard to our draft of the franchise agreement, which has attached schedule A.  It is in tab L to our material.  And it is just before the last item, so it is just before the last green page.  You should find page 10, schedule A.  These are the added terms to the, what is essentially otherwise the standard form Board agreement. 

MR. KAISER:  And the date is...? 

MR. TUNLEY:  This was put forward to NRG on, I believe, December 16th.  And it is paragraph 1, Mr. Kaiser:

"Immediately upon the execution of this agreement, the gas company will apply."

Now, that's obviously just the soonest they could do it.  We could play with the date --

MR. KAISER:  Well, tell us so we can get a response.  I mean, is it satisfactory to you if they file within six months? 

MR. TUNLEY:  I would expect so.  The point is to get these issues addressed.

MR. KAISER:  No, I understand.  What is wrong with filing a rate application in six months?  Any problem with that? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  If there's a -- if we are going to file a rate application, we would like to know that we're filing it under a reasonable term with certainty of renewal after that; otherwise, it significantly changes how we would file.

MR. KAISER:  You are going to have a decision here, because this franchise agreement runs out at the end of this month.  There's going to be some decision, and certainly within that six-month time frame; if not, within 90 days or earlier.

MR. BRISTOLL:  So the issue for us is whether we're filing for a -- whether we will have to recover our assets over a three-year period, because there will be no renewal, or whether we will do it in the normal course of business, which significantly impacts how we would go about this.

MR. KAISER:  Even if you get a three-year renewal - let's say a three-year, five-year, whatever - you think that is going to change how you file your rate case?  You are going to try to depreciate all of your assets over the term of the franchise agreement?

MR. BRISTOLL:  I don't know what else we would do, because if we get a three-year renewal, for example, with no certainty of a further renewal, like, in the normal course of business, I'm not exactly sure who -- what financial institution would want to take that risk on that they wouldn't be able to recover their loan to us.

MR. THACKER:  The concern is what we have here is a disclosed strategy to make it more economically efficient and attractive to this Board to displace NRG at the end of three years.  A financial institution will see that in two seconds, and then they will never finance it unless we depreciate all of our assets over three years, instead of ten or 20, and that's the problem. 

We need to determine that issue before a rate case can be brought on.  I don't think there is any objection to bringing on a rate case in a reasonable period of time.

MR. KAISER:  It will be what it is.

MR. THACKER:  Yes.  I mean, within the next 12 months there will be a rate case.  I think, if I read the act properly, they could have at any time over the last three years, the Town of Aylmer, brought on a rate case, or compelled us to do so.  They haven't done it.  They have all of the rights to provoke that process.

MR. KAISER:  I am just trying, Mr. Thacker, to shorten the list, if we could.  I am about to give up, but that is -- you know, if we file a rate case within six months, can we live with that?

MR. THACKER:  Let me help you.  I have just received instructions.  Say within 12 months, no problem.  Six months is a little short, because it may cause us to have to pay a premium or use a consultant that we don't otherwise want to use because of the consultant's availability, but within 12 months, certainly.

MR. KAISER:  I will tell you this.  The Board is interested in this issue.  I mean, we have just gone through a hearing, and you were present --

MR. THACKER:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  -- and the financial situation with this utility is not the best in the province.  And so -- and that's why we wrote this decision in the way we did, to make sure you got your financials in, and the Board is reviewing it.

So the Board also can force you in.  I was just trying to see if you could agree to file within six months.  It seems to me to be a reasonable request, but you can consider it.

I will tell you you will certainly have a decision in this case within 90 days.

MR. BRISTOLL:  Thank you.

MR. KAISER:  There won't be any question about that.

MR. THACKER:  I can point out that there are two previous OEB hearings where these very same shares were determined to be equity.

MR. KAISER:  We know that.

MS. SPOEL:  Mr. Thacker, was before you had an opinion from your accountant that he had -- that they had to be viewed as a liability for GAAP purposes.  So that information wasn't available to the Board the last time we went through this. 

So it's new information.  Whether it makes a difference in a rates case, I don't know.

MR. THACKER:  Right.

MS. SPOEL:  But it wasn't there the last time we had an NRG rates case, and that I do know, because I was on that panel.

MR. THACKER:  Fair enough.

MS. SPOEL:  So there is no point in talking about how that hasn't changed.  Of course it's changed.  The shares themselves haven't -- it appears, to be changed, but the way they're treated for accounting purposes has.

That may and it may not have an impact on the rates --

MR. THACKER:  I agree with you.

MS. SPOEL:  -- or the way they're dealt with in a rates case.  To say that they haven't changed, we know.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Tunley.

MR. TUNLEY:  Let me just try to shorten matters, again, going back to the security deposit issue and finishing that off.

We went through the numbers, how that has increased and the 650 percent increase over the three-year period since 2005.

I mean, I guess to cut to the chase, is it your business judgment that that's a neutral fact, that that's a good thing?  It's business as usual to have $750,000, almost a tenth of your capital requirement, in that form?

MR. BRISTOLL:  We're not driving towards a percentage of anything.  What we did is we looked at the individuals that came to us and had requested service, and we did a credit check on them and we based it upon what we thought were reasonable standards for credit checks.  And it was evaluated that we would need to get a security deposit.

If they have a good payment history in the next 12 months, then our policy is to return 50 percent of it, which we do.

So it's not that we're chasing a number.  It is just this is what materializes over time.

MR. TUNLEY:  Well, it has materialized, in fairness, over the last three years since your last rate case.

MR. BRISTOLL:  That is correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  You mentioned in your evidence the petition that was filed with the Town of Aylmer about this issue of security deposits.  That's at tab H of the material, if you want to turn to it. 

I believe you are aware, sir, that this petition -- for Board members, it is the very last item at the back of tab H.

This petition was presented to council, in an open meeting of council on July 21st, 2008.  Are you aware of that?  It's a public document.

MR. BRISTOLL:  I was not aware of that.

MR. TUNLEY:  It was discussed with you, it appears from the minutes of the meeting, on September 11th -- not the minutes, but from Ms. Adams' summary of the meeting with you at tab J.

If you look about half way down the page, there is a discussion of 400-plus people having signed a petition.  That was discussed with you on September 11th; correct?

MR. BRISTOLL:  Again, I indicated at the time we had not yet seen a copy of the petition.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  Then the first page of the petition was filed with this Board in the context of the Union proceeding, right, in October?

MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Did you ever request to see a petition with 400-plus signatures complaining about your security deposit policy?

MR. BRISTOLL:  When we met with Mayor Habkirk and Heather Adams on September 11th, I believe it was, we did mention to them that we had never seen a copy of it.

MR. TUNLEY:  You have now read it, I take it.  You see the comments people are making about your company, characterizing it, as I read it, as stealing, robbery, very unfair, rip-off, scandalous? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  I have read the comments, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Disgraceful, disgusting? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  We are talking about some 600 of your customers seeing your policies that way.

MR. BRISTOLL:  I am not sure that they're all our customers.  It is people that have signed a petition, which is very different than a list of customers that have signed something.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.

MR. BRISTOLL:  I would also like to let you know that we have gone through great strides in the last nine months to put in place a policy that we believe is both fair to the utility and to the ratepayers, and I believe that policy has been filed as evidence and presented to the town several times.

MR. TUNLEY:  But, Mr. Bristoll, just simply, because I'm not an expert on these things, but do you not see a connection between this dramatic increase in the amount of money you are holding from customers and this kind of response from residents in the town? 

Do you not see a connection between those two, and can you not agree with me it's at least concerning from a business point of view?

MR. BRISTOLL:  And we have gone through great strides to improve upon that.  I think my numbers that I have indicated earlier and the questions in the returns would show that.

MR. TUNLEY:  As I read your evidence, it is still saying and claiming that you have very few complaints of customer service, in spite of knowing about the details of this.  I just don't understand.

MR. BRISTOLL:  The last written complaint we received was on November 3rd, 2008.  If people wish to complain directly to us, we would be very open to hear them and to address them, but they're not.

MR. TUNLEY:  Let me come to that in a moment, because it is another point.

Let's go to your policy, which we have, I believe, produced in tab I.  This is your security deposit policy, as I understand it; is that right?  There are a number of different versions of the document here that -- do you recognize these various versions of the document?

MR. BRISTOLL:  Bear with me for one second, please.

I'm ready now.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  Just to identify what we have here, I understand that the first page at tab I is an internal document about how you administer your policy; is that correct?  It's not sent to customers or publicly available?

MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Is it accurate, though, as far as it goes here?

MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  And I understand the next document is a version of your policy, as it is to be provided to customers, which was provided to the town in the September 11th meeting; is that correct? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct. 

MR. TUNLEY:  And then in the next document a version of that, somewhat amended, is being sent, according to your letter to the town of January the 15th, it's going to be sent to customers, I understand, for the first time in their February billing; is that right? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  It would not be for the first time.  Anybody who has a security deposit with us has received a copy of this policy when we -- when the deposit was placed with us. 

I think the other thing that you will notice with the three documents is that they're extremely consistent.  They both talk about 50 percent being returned in the first year, and 100 percent will be returned -- the balance of the 50 percent, which is the next 50, will be returned in the second year, provided there is good payment history. 

MR. TUNLEY:  Well, let's just look at the first document, your internal -- as I understand it, the way you calculate the security deposit in the fourth full paragraph is to take 2.5 times the average of the three highest months of consumption.

MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  So we are looking at the three highest winter months, and then you multiply that by two and a half.

MR. BRISTOLL:  That's the maximum security deposit that we would take; that's correct. 

MR. TUNLEY:  As opposed to what the Board has proposed in the GDAR, which is average monthly over the whole year, right? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  That's the difference between the two, yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  That's the difference between the two.

MR. BRISTOLL:  Right.  That's correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  And then as I understand it, looking at the procedure that you go through prior to that, there's a kind of presumption that that will be required, a deposit will be required, unless you get a customer's credit report showing that they meet certain criteria; is that right? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  We run a credit report on all new customers, with their authorization, to determine whether or not we are required to take a security deposit or not. 

MR. TUNLEY:  And then it is a matter of discretion, once you run that report, as to where you place the deposit that you require, between zero and the full amount of two-and-a-half times the average worst three months; is that right?  There don't seem to be any criteria as to how you place an individual? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  You are placed within, effectively, one of two buckets.  We either will accept a security deposit from you or we won't. 

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  And so you either get the full amount or nothing.  Is that what you're saying? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  Well, yes.  We have to have a standard somewhere, so that is how we drew the line. 

MR. TUNLEY:  And do you have an equal-billing process, where you can kind of average the months; billings for customers over the year, rather than having them low in the summer and higher later?

MR. BRISTOLL:  Yes, we do.

MR. TUNLEY:  So your actual exposure isn't necessarily on a two-and-a-half times the worst month basis?  That wouldn't normally arise in your business, would it? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  Our exposure with security deposits actually lies with the gas commodity more than anything.  With the price of natural gas at times being very high, what has happened -- or what we experienced was, is that one-third of our bill would be distribution and two-thirds of our bill would be commodity-based.

But we earn no return on natural gas itself.  It's a pass-through.  We pay a dollar for gas.  We pass through a dollar to the customer, effectively.

And if there's a bad debt associated with a bill, the lion's share of that debt has to be recouped, which -- so the lion's share of that debt would be non-profit-producing receivable.  It would have to be recouped from a very small percentage of our business that runs profits. 

So the risk for us is a lot higher than it actually appears to be on the surface, as a result of that relationship between the commodity and the distribution on the bill. 

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  Well, I hope there are people in the room who understand that, but I am pretty confident that the customers in the Town of Aylmer just see the amount that you are requiring from them -- never mind who is supplying you with the commodity -- and they're concerned about it.  That's how I read the petition. 

MR. BRISTOLL:  And I recognize that concern, and I think we have gone a long way in the last while to work with the town and to work with our customers to come up with a much kinder, gentler, softer policy. 

MR. TUNLEY:  And the town has heard, as is indicated in the material, that the deposits you are requiring from new customers are, even for a residential customer, as much as $500 and $1,000 per customer as a security deposit.  Are you aware of those numbers?  Is that right? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  That is correct, yes.  I would like to point out that that petition goes back to July 2008, and it is now February 2009.  And a lot has transpired between those two dates. 

MR. TUNLEY:  Well, a lot has transpired.  It's not in the evidence before us, I take it? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  No. 

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  Well...

Let's deal with the issue of customer complaints.  I think it is clear, in your own evidence, that there is no written policy at NRG on receipt of customer complaints, right? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  There's a procedure we follow internally, yes. 

MR. TUNLEY:  There is no written policy that sets out that procedure --

MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  -- is there?  And there is no form that you can give to a customer to say, Fill this out and let us know the nature of your concern, is there? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  No, we have not done that. 

MR. TUNLEY:  And there is no single intake for telephone complaints.  There's a number for one kind of complaint, and there's another number for security-deposit complaints, as I read your material, right?  I think it is your response to the Board's interrogatories that gives me that information in your circular --

MR. BRISTOLL:  Do we have a complaint line where you can dial in to a single person?

MR. TUNLEY:  You don't, do you?

MR. BRISTOLL:  No, we don't.  That would be logistically very difficult for our company.

MR. TUNLEY:  And you have no call-answering performance system to measure -- to record the information that comes in at any of those numbers and measure the response time of staff to those calls, do you?  You don't have that system in place.

MR. BRISTOLL:  No. 

MR. TUNLEY:  And there is no form that your staff are required to fill out indicating who called, when, what they were complaining of, and what actions were taken, is there? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  No.  We have received very few complaints. 

MR. TUNLEY:  And -- well, how do you know? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  Because we follow up on every one we receive.

MR. TUNLEY:  How? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  Because either -- with a company our size, the general manager would be involved in it, and we would address it at the time. 

MR. TUNLEY:  So you send it straight to the general manager and the president, if there's a call about complaints? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  No.  If it's a localized call with somebody who is enquiring about something, it would go to the divisional department manager.  But if it was to escalate, it would normally involve the general manager. 

MR. TUNLEY:  It's fair to say that you have provided a narrative in your answers to Board Interrogatory No. 3.  Part 1 of the answer is about your process.

But it's fair to say that that's not documented or verifiable in any fashion at all within your systems, is it, Mr. Bristoll? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  The complaint process is not; you're correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  It is not verifiable in any fashion. 

And also, sir, you have no dedicated full-time customer-service staff, do you? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  We do not have somebody who would respond to one or two calls -- 

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.

MR. BRISTOLL:  -- at a time.  For us to have a full-time customer-service staff member would be a huge waste of resources. 

MR. TUNLEY:  You understand that the Board's requirements in the GDAR are for you to document compliance with various aspects of your service requirements. 

And I am just putting it to you that you don't comply with the Board's GDAR requirements to document compliance with customer-complaint handling.  You don't. 

MR. BRISTOLL:  We have started the process whereby we do have a log now that records all written complaints, and it actually records the nature of the complaint and the resolution of that complaint. 

MR. TUNLEY:  And you do understand that the town, when it puts in its schedule A and asks you to submit a written policy, the town is not telling you what that should look like, what the documents should be, how they should be set up.  They just want you to write it down. 

MR. BRISTOLL:  I have no issue with that. 

MR. TUNLEY:  And you don't have a problem with doing that. 

MR. BRISTOLL:  No, not at all. 

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  Well, would you agree with me that, until you do that, you actually don't know how many customer complaints you have?  You just don't know.  You can't verify that. 

MR. BRISTOLL:  I will agree in the past we could not.  I will say now we do have a log in place that is tracking them, all right?

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  The other customer-service issues that the town has raised and asked you to consider are along the same lines.  There's a request that you implement the Board-proposed GDAR changes ahead of any requirement to do so, and you're not prepared to do that, you've told the town?

MR. BRISTOLL:  Our concern with implementing them was -- is to create -- is the desire not to create confusion with respect to implementing one thing, and then several months later having a process brought out and doing another.

So it would be our preference to wait until such time as there is a decision on what exactly there is we need to do, and then we would follow through with that and put it together.

We have -- our policy is basically a series of documents, which I don't have a problem putting together as a single document for the security deposits, but some of the other stuff, like sending out notices and stuff like that, I believe would be very, very confusing for the customer, especially if it had to change.

MR. TUNLEY:  Isn't the problem, though, as I understand your response again to Board Interrogatory No. 4, is there is a GDAR at the moment as unamended and you are not even complying with that, as I read your answers?

You don't comply with section 2.3.1.  You don't comply with section 7.3.1.

MR. BRISTOLL:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. TUNLEY:  How do we know if it's not in the franchise agreement, and if the residents of the town can't count on it as a commitment from you, how do we know you're going to comply even with the old GDAR?

MR. BRISTOLL:  If we say we will comply, we will comply.

MR. TUNLEY:  Okay.  Again, you understand the town isn't -- doesn't want to go back and revisit past grievances, we are only interested in a go-forward commitment where these issues disappear.  That's what schedule A is about.

MR. BRISTOLL:  I know.  And I agree with you.  And we did, when we met with both Mayor Habkirk and Heather Adams, indicate that we are willing to work with them.

MR. TUNLEY:  You understood that is what they're looking for is the go-forward commitment, more than anything else?

MR. BRISTOLL:  When we met with them on September 11th, we -- I think in the evidence that Ms. Adams submitted there is a letter from myself indicating that we would be -- that we are willing to work with the town on all future issues.  And I...

MR. TUNLEY:  The other specific issue they have asked you to address is this issue of new and relocating retail, industrial and commercial customers.  You are aware that they want you to put in place a written process for addressing relocating new customers in the commercial sphere quickly and, if possible, giving them an incentive to locate into this area?  You understand that is what the town is requesting?

MR. BRISTOLL:  I was not aware of that.

MR. TUNLEY:  Just look with me at schedule A to the proposed franchise agreement that the town has sent to you.

MR. BRISTOLL:  Can you give me the tab, please?

MR. TUNLEY:  Yes.  Sorry, tab L at the back, just before the last green page, so it is page 10.

MR. MILLAR:  Last page of your tab D -- tab D-1.

MR. BRISTOLL:  Thank you.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  Thank you.

So if you have schedule A, just run down to point 3(a):
"Adopt and adhere to a written policy regarding meeting with and providing written estimates for providing natural gas services to new and relocating retail, commercial and industrial customers on a timely basis and at a competitive rate."

Do you see that?

MR. BRISTOLL:  Yes, I do.

MR. TUNLEY:  You understand that the town is needfully in the process of trying to encourage all kinds of economic development and attract new businesses to the area and develop new businesses within the population of the area?  You understand that; right?

MR. BRISTOLL:  Well, of course.

MR. TUNLEY:  And all they want you to do, again, is adopt and adhere to a policy that will help them, by addressing those issues for new and relocating customers.  That's all they're asking.

MR. BRISTOLL:  As we mentioned, and it is not in writing -- well, I guess it is in writing, because we did write that letter to Heather Adams and Mayor Habkirk, that we would be willing to assist them in any way that we can.

The term "competitive rate", our rates are competitive because they are assessed to be just and reasonable.  So I believe that we already provide what one would call competitive rates.

MR. TUNLEY:  Well, you are saying you are locked into what the Board has set for you and you can't offer incentives to new customers?

MR. BRISTOLL:  We don't have an authorized incentive program at the moment, no.

MR. TUNLEY:  Maybe that is another issue that could be addressed in a rate hearing.

MR. BRISTOLL:  Yes.  And working with the town, I think many things are possible.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  You do understand the importance of this to the town's economic development initiatives?

MR. BRISTOLL:  And to ours.

MR. TUNLEY:  I would hope so, yes.  You do understand that?

MR. BRISTOLL:  Yes, I do.

MR. TUNLEY:  And have you conducted any review of these proposals that have been put to you by the town as to their feasibility, or how you might implement them going forward, in order to try and address some of the concerns that have been raised with you since the meeting in September, September 11th?

MR. BRISTOLL:  It had been our hope that we would have probably had more consultative discussions with the town of Elmer -- not Elmer, but Aylmer, sorry -- with respect to those issues.  For whatever reason, neither party got to that point.

Now, we are more than willing to sit down with the town and work these things through.

MR. TUNLEY:  Right.  And what the town is proposing is to give both parties time for that to occur, and we've proposed a three-year time frame.  Do you have a problem with pursuing those initiatives over a three-year time frame to see if we can't improve the relationship and be prepared to come with you to see your bank prior to the next renewal?

MR. BRISTOLL:  Our issue -- if we say we are hypothetically willing to accept a three-year renewal right now, all right --

MR. TUNLEY:  Well, the Board may order it.

MR. THACKER:  Let him finish, please.

MR. BRISTOLL:  If we were to accept a three-year renewal right now, right, with -- we would want a guaranteed renewal after that.  But what you're really saying to me is, We will give you three years.  If we deem you to be good, then we will give you some other period of time.

But my fear would be right now is that you will give us three years now, and then you will wait another three years to line the other group up, and then you will have the whole franchise under the same renewal period, and then -- I am being honest with you -- and then the final assault can occur.

So if we could come up with some sort of arrangement where we are guaranteed a long-term renewal, that's really our core issue.  I mean, I have no issue helping the town prosper.  It would be silly not to. 

We have no issues resolving issues like customer service issues.  I have no issue trying to work through security deposit issues and stuff like that.

MR. TUNLEY:  You have no issue --

MR. THACKER:  Let him finish.

MR. BRISTOLL:  Right?  So we think we have gone through great strides to do that as we stand right now.  But you have to understand you have a gun to our head and we feel like we have a gun to our head, and we don't have many -- and so three years is really -- you have just got the gun and you have cocked it, and we don't know when the bullet is coming out.

MR. TUNLEY:  Well, as I've said, we don't hold a gun.  We are here before the Board because, if there is a gun in the room, that's where it is.

But, in principle, you are saying to me it is very important -- you are saying to me that to solve these issues, three years is a reasonable time frame.  You could commit to a three-year time table to solve these issues with the town?

MR. BRISTOLL:  We want to solve the issues with the town, but we cannot agree to a three-year renewal time period.

MR. KAISER:  Can I ask you, Mr. Tunley, something?  You have your list of conditions on schedule A.

If in the next month your client and NRG could reach an agreement on the contents of schedule A, would the three-year demand go away?

MR. TUNLEY:  No, unfortunately it would not.  We at least want to have a report in, and it is a report in really to this Board.

My argument at the end of the day to you is going to be:  This is really to help you exercise your oversight in what I am going to submit to you at the end of the day are rather unusual circumstances with a rather unusual gas distribution utility at a critical economic time for the Town of Aylmer.

But we need a report in to the Board before we can commit to a longer term, certainly anything as long as 20 years.  We need that.

MR. KAISER:  And what does this report contain that you need that you don't have? 

MR. TUNLEY:  It would take the form of a hearing like this one, if need be, to determine how well we've done in resolving the issues of the past in that three-year period.  Again --

MR. KAISER:  All right.  But this is some of the issues of the past, the security deposits and this, that, and the other thing, right?

MR. TUNLEY:  We think it addresses all of the key ones.

MR. KAISER:  What's left off?  Is it how the shares are going to be treated by the Board for rate-making purposes?

MR. TUNLEY:  Well, that is addressed.  It puts -- this puts that issue --

MR. KAISER:  No, need to file a rate case, you say, immediately; they say within a year.  But let's say you reached an agreement, We'll file a rate case in six months.  That is point 1.  I'm just trying to understand -- we understand your notion that it would be a good idea to synchronize with the other municipalities.  We can understand that. 

MR. TUNLEY:  Yes. 

MR. KAISER:  But as to the, what I am going to call the complaint, the service complaints -- you're legitimately raising service complaints -- you said, We don't care about the past.  We just want you to behave going forward.  Here is what we want you to put in this agreement, this franchise agreement.  And incidentally, I mean, you have said, and it may well be the case, they're not complying with the existing GDAR anyway, and so you are going to put GDAR into the franchise agreement, as well as some other stuff that's not in GDAR.  What remedy does that give you?  If they don't comply with GDAR, what are you going to do?  Revoke the franchise agreement? 

MR. TUNLEY:  Well, that is exactly the rationale for a three-year term.  If all of this is a paper exercise and it doesn't result in real change, we need to know that before 20 years from now, because 20 years from now is too late. 

MR. KAISER:  All right. 

MR. THACKER:  If I understood your question, it was, if we can reach agreement on all these other conditions, to the point where they can be enshrined in a franchise agreement, does the three-year strategy fall away? 

MR. KAISER:  Right. 

MR. THACKER:  That seems to me eminently sensible --

MR. KAISER:  Well, I think what he is saying -- you will correct me, no doubt, if I am wrong -- is, Yes, that would set up the rules, but we want a remedy if you don't comply with the rules, and our remedy would be three years.  We'll say, You know, you agreed to these things, and you didn't do it.  We're not renewing further.  I think that's your point, isn't it?

MR. TUNLEY:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  Wouldn't the other way to look at it be that if we don't comply with the terms of the franchise agreement they have a remedy, where in breach of the agreement, and they can seek a remedy?

MR. KAISER:  Well, that's a good question.  That is where I was going.  What is your remedy?  Let's suppose you reach agreement on this, as Mr. Thacker says, and let's say there is not a three-year term, there is a longer term.  But you've still got the breach of the franchise agreement.  Can you come here, and are we required to have a hearing, and can we toss them out on their ear?  What's the law? 

MR. TUNLEY:  I would need to address that for you as an alternative --

MR. KAISER:  Can you deal with that? 

MR. TUNLEY:  I will deal with that --

MR. KAISER:  Don't have to deal with it now.

MR. TUNLEY:  I understand my friend's wish to have written argument, and I'll address that --

MR. KAISER:  But, I mean, Mr. Thacker is right.  I mean, that conceivably is a remedy, even a more immediate remedy. 

MR. TUNLEY:  I guess my answer is, the town doesn't want to be always in the applicant, always in the supplicant, always asking for compliance.  They want a system that works.  They want a closing date for review.  And if it is not there, let's move on. 

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.

How are you doing on time?  Do you want to take the lunch break now?

MR. TUNLEY:  I'm finished.  I'm finished.

MR. KAISER:  You're finished?

MR. MILLAR:  I just have a few questions -- Oh, I am not sure if Mr. Stoll has, but I -- more than five or ten minutes, I don't think, and I don't know about Mr. Stoll.

MR. STOLL:  I would probably be five or ten minutes as well, so I'm in your hands whether --

MR. KAISER:  What do you have -- do you have -- do we have any other evidence?  Did you have witnesses?

MR. TUNLEY:  I am prepared to put Ms. Adams in the witness box.  I would like to do that just to make sure that her evidence is evidence before you, but I will only highlight from it and be very brief, and then --

MR. KAISER:  All right.  So let's do this, gentlemen.  Let's finish with this witness, if we can, Mr. Stoll, Mr. Thacker, and Mr. Millar.  And then after lunch we will deal with the town's evidence. 
Cross-examination by Mr. Stoll:


MR. STOLL:  Okay.  If we can just go to your response to the IRs of IGPC.  It is page 18 of 26 of the IR response.

MR. BRISTOLL:  I am there. 

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  And paragraph (d) talked about, you believe that if the three-year renewal is granted that the second credit facility will be demanded.  Is that based on any statement from the bank or your lender, or is that just your belief? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  We have not gone to our lender and said, If we have a three-year renewal and there is no guarantee of another renewal, what will you do to us?  So the answer is, is that it is our strong belief that if there is not assurance of a long-term arrangement with the Town of Aylmer, that these facilities will be reviewed. 

MR. STOLL:  But the second credit facility is secured by the letter of credit directly from my client.  So I am trying to understand the direct connection that you are making with the demand. 

MR. BRISTOLL:  It may be secured, but I don't know how they would respond to this situation.  And I don't think that they would respond favourably to it.

MR. STOLL:  All right.  But that question has never been put directly to them. 

MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct. 

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  I just have a couple questions, and I guess you referred to our relationship as rocky over the past; is that correct? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  I did, yes. 

MR. STOLL:  And Mr. Tunley has referred to the circumstances as fairly unique, and I think -- I guess the question is, would you agree that the present circumstances that we all find ourselves here in are unique in the utility industry? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  Yes, I think they're unique.  I mean, it is obvious that this doesn't happen on a regular basis, but I also think that we are the only utility of its size in Ontario, and that issues that arise in our utility seem to be magnified, if and when they arise, compared to if this was the same issue that would have happened with a larger utility somewhere else in southwestern Ontario or elsewhere in Ontario. 

MR. STOLL:  You are referring just to gas utilities in that context, right?  There are several electric utilities that are of your size or smaller. 

MR. BRISTOLL:  I am.  I don't follow the electrical scene. 

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  All right.  Okay.  And if we can turn now to Aylmer's evidence.  And it is the financial statements.  I just want a couple of questions clarified, a couple of things. 

MR. BRISTOLL:  Okay. 

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  On page 12 --

MR. THACKER:  Can you give us a tab? 

MR. STOLL:  Oh, sorry.  E.  E.  Tab E.  Sorry, I am flipping back and forth between two different binders here and two different codes of numbering, so...

The second credit facility that was negotiated in October of this year, that would be a fairly significant event for NRG, would it not?  The finalization of that financing? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct. 

MR. STOLL:  In reading through the financials, I did not see any mention of that note, and my understanding of GAAP -- and I am not an accountant -- was that subsequent events should be noted in -- of such a nature should be noted in the financials in order to comply with GAAP.  Is that your understanding, or was this issue ever raised? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  Generally speaking, I believe that's correct, yes. 

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  So there -- I'm not saying there is an issue, but there's potentially an issue that that note wasn't included in these financials. 

MR. BRISTOLL:  That would be at the discretion of our auditors. 

MR. STOLL:  But they were aware of the transaction? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  Yes, they were. 

MR. STOLL:  Okay.  All right.  Well, we'll maybe have to revisit that later with -- in a subsequent proceeding. 

MR. KAISER:  Before you move on, is that a concern to your client, and if so, why? 

MR. STOLL:  Well, I think it goes --

MR. KAISER:  I mean, you know about it.  Of all people, you know about it.  Is it going to affect the rate case?  There's a significant non-disclosure that we should be concerned about?

MR. STOLL:  I think it is just is part of the continuing pattern that we've been having in getting proper communication and compliance with the rules.  And we looked at this, and I just wanted to make sure whether the issue had been raised and discounted, or whether it is an omission or a potential issue.

It may be significant later on in a rate hearing.  I don't know, because, quite frankly, I think there is still a lot of work to be done to get to the rate hearing in respect of my client, because the pipeline wasn't there the last time we were here.  I am sure there are going to be certain issues, and there hasn't been final reconciliation that was mentioned earlier on the reasonable costs that are included in the rate base of the utility.

So there will be probably a few issues.  To the extent they're impacted by what is here in the financial, I can't say at this time.

MR. KAISER:  What's your position on this issue that the town raises that they want to renew this agreement for just three years?

MR. STOLL:  We are generally supportive of that.  Our relationship with NRG is unlike any other relationship with our suppliers and what we consider colloquially the partners in our business.

We want to be seen -- we want our partners to work with us to achieve success.  And the record is pretty clear and extensive before the Board that hasn't been the case.

We think, to borrow your phrase, there needs to be a bit of a short leash here to ensure that the utility does operate in a good utility manner with its customers; not just us, but all of its customers.  We want to see improvement.

And I think the three-year terms are a reasonable expectation.  I haven't seen any evidence of the financial impact of that.  They have made some comments that there would be a rate impact, but it has not been quantified, even in broad strokes.

So to say that -- take a firm position on the rate impact or potential impact on our clients, it's a little early on that, but we think three years is reasonable.

We understand the town's rationale, and eventually there probably could be some efficiencies gained.  And if, in three years, everything was sunny and rosy and there were no issues, then it would be up to the town and their future council to decide what they want to do as far as a longer renewal at that time.

But I think the three years is an appropriate term right now.

MR. KAISER:  Do you have any conditions you want to throw into the mix?  I'm wondering about this outstanding issue.  I mean, we are here.  We have come down here.  I mean, I don't know whether this matter you referred to three or four times is just an accounting issue, you are confident it will get resolved or...

MR. STOLL:  It will get resolved in one way or another.  I think we're down to the final bits of information that need to be exchanged, and I would hope that that would be exchanged -- or concluded, outside that, without the need for the Board to intervene, or our meeting to request for --

MR. KAISER:  It is your view, Mr. Bristoll, that you've just got to get the accountants to work?

MR. BRISTOLL:  There are a few things we're going back and forth on.

MR. STOLL:  Yes.  So I don't see a need to add any conditions to this.  Quite frankly, we are not a party to the agreement, so I don't think it is our place to add a condition.

There are one or two other questions I just have for the financials.

MR. KAISER:  Yes, go ahead.

MR. STOLL:  You had indicated earlier that a large part of the need for the security deposit was to secure the commodity cost of gas for the suppliers; is that correct?

MR. BRISTOLL:  No.  No, that's a misinterpretation.

We are -- we take the security deposits, because we pay the gas in advance and the customers pay us in arrears.

For those customers who we feel have not the best credit, we feel that it is necessary to secure their receivables.

MR. STOLL:  Now, I think I understand that, but as far as if a customer was to go into arrears, a certain portion of that would be associated with the distribution charge and a certain portion would be associated with the commodity costs, and I think you said two-thirds was commodity, one-third was distribution?

MR. BRISTOLL:  In this case, it would be the commodity revenue, the commodity, yes.

MR. STOLL:  Right, right.  NRG is maybe unique, in that it supplies a significant volume -- or a related company supplies a significant volume of its own gas?

MR. BRISTOLL:  I don't follow how that works with security deposits.

MR. STOLL:  Well, effectively you are trying to guarantee that you have an ability to pay the expenses that have been incurred for a customer who has defaulted.

The creditor in this circumstance happens to be an affiliate or a related company to NRG, because the commodity is purchased by NRG from a related company.

MR. BRISTOLL:  Seventy percent of our gas comes from western purchases.

MR. STOLL:  Right.

MR. BRISTOLL:  Less than 30 percent comes from the related company that you referred to.

The purpose of the security deposit is to firm up our receivables, but, as I've mentioned, our intent is not to keep it indefinitely.  It is return to return it upon proof of good payment history.


MR. STOLL:  It may just be semantics, but on page 14 there is a note saying during the year the company purchased gas in the amount of 2.6 million from a related company --

MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct.

MR. STOLL:  -- on gas commodity revenue of about 6.5 million.  So that is hedging close to 40 percent?

MR. BRISTOLL:  It does fluctuate.

MR. STOLL:  All right.  So there is a benefit to the related company.  The better able NRG is to pay its bills because it has collected its security deposit, it has a benefit to its related companies, as well.

MR. BRISTOLL:  The policy isn't in place to benefit a related company.  The policy it is in place to ensure that our receivables are recoverable.

MR. STOLL:  You would use those receivables to pay your payables?

MR. BRISTOLL:  Receivables are used to pay payables, that's correct.

MR. STOLL:  Right.  And your related company is a payable?

MR. BRISTOLL:  It is one of many payables, you are correct.

MR. STOLL:  All right.  Just one other note or question.  Is the final capital cost of the pipeline under construction -- actually, I said I would deal with that later.  I will deal with that later, so those are my questions.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar.
Cross-examination by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I will be very brief.

Mr. Bristoll, can you just confirm for me that NRG's proposal, at least in the application, is that the Board approve what is the Board's model franchise agreement with no changes; is that correct?

MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  Could I ask you to turn up -- I hate to take you back here, but the proposed conditions by the town.  I have them at -- I think it is Exhibit D, tab 1, the very last page.  It's called schedule A.

I bring you here because there has been some back and forth on this, but I am still not entirely sure which issues NRG -- which of these conditions NRG agrees to and which one it doesn't.  So I am just going to go through real quick, and I will try and get your answer on that.

MR. BRISTOLL:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  For issue 1, it is the rates case issue.  I take it NRG is agreeing, at least in principle, to bring a rates case within one year; is that correct?

MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Could I ask that over lunch -- there was some talk of a six-months period, for example.  Maybe over lunch you could discuss that, and, if you could reduce that time period, could you let us know?

MR. BRISTOLL:  We can discuss it.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.

Issue 2 -- just again on the rates case, am I right that when the last rates case came forward, the IGPC facility was not up and running; is that correct?

MR. BRISTOLL:  That is correct, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So that pipeline is not in rate base?

MR. BRISTOLL:  It is not.

MR. MILLAR:  You're not earning a return on that pipeline, currently?

MR. BRISTOLL:  It is not reflected, no.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Similarly, you are obviously earning revenues from the flow of gas to the facility currently?

MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  That wasn't considered in the last rates case?

MR. BRISTOLL:  It was not.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  If we could move to issue 2, again, I want to make sure we are crystal clear here.  I understood you to say that if the GDAR is approved by the Board, obviously you will comply by that; is that the case?

MR. BRISTOLL:  Yes, we will.

MR. MILLAR:  We heard from the chair earlier that, in fact, the Board may not proceed with the GDAR, and I think the town is still interested in having the provisions of that proposed amendment apply to you, irrespective of if GDAR goes forward or not. 

Would you agree to do that?  In the absence of the approval through the GDAR, would you agree to implement that system anyways? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  We would agree to implement it, provided we had the option to make changes as the business concerns or the business environment dictated.

MR. MILLAR:  So the answer is "no".

MR. BRISTOLL:  The answer is "yes", but if our environment changes we would like to have the ability to make changes, but not to be handcuffed by a proceeding every single time we want to make that change.

MR. MILLAR:  Understood.  But you would agree to it -- at least for now you would agree to it.

MR. BRISTOLL:  Most of it we're doing anyway, so --

MR. MILLAR:  I think that is right, but there are some changes, as Mr. Tunley took you through --

MR. BRISTOLL:  Yes, we would have to -- yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  But you would agree to those now.

MR. BRISTOLL:  Yes, provided we had the ability to make changes as the business environment dictated.

MR. KAISER:  But what does that mean?  I mean, if GDAR had been implemented --

MR. BRISTOLL:  Yes. 

MR. KAISER:  -- you would have to comply with it until it was amended.

MR. BRISTOLL:  Right.  I guess we would have to put some sort of -- if we thought, so we could --

MR. KAISER:  So you're saying, We will comply with those terms, provided we have an option to come back to the Board and ask them to be amended if they don't meet current business conditions, or something like that? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct.  Something like that, yes.

MR. KAISER:  All right.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  That's helpful.  Thank you.

So obviously, 3-A, if you are agreeing to a policy -- and it would be in writing -- I take it you would agree to make that written policy publicly available? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  Yes, we would. 

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. BRISTOLL:  I do want to state that we do make our policy publicly available.  Every one that we receive --

MR. MILLAR:  You are already doing that.

MR. BRISTOLL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Fair enough.

3-B, I take it you have agreed to this? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  We agreed to that.

MR. MILLAR:  You don't currently have a written policy; is that right?

MR. BRISTOLL:  No, but we have a, well, implemented policy that could be written down.

MR. MILLAR:  But you have agreed to put it in writing and make it publicly available? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  3-C, I guess the same question.  You have agreed to this?  You have agreed to a written --

MR. THACKER:  Not in a competitive rate.  This is all entirely misplaced, so we are not agreeing.  The rate is set by this Panel, this Board.  So some of these conditions are not really drafted appropriately, but I think the question is whether or not -- if you are asking in spirit -


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, okay.  I think you are quite right.  Obviously, the Board sets the rate.  If we take out the competitive rate part or -- I take it it is in your interest, obviously, deal with potential new businesses in the community, and you would agree to put something in writing and make it publicly available?

MR. BRISTOLL:  Yes, and we want to work with the Town of Aylmer to do that.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

With regard to keeping security deposits in a trust fund, have you agreed to that or not?

MR. BRISTOLL:  No.  I just don't know how that would work, and I don't think that we need to be doing that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And let me ask you this:  Currently, deposits are used as working capital?

MR. BRISTOLL:  They are part of working capital; that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And if they are not used as working capital any more, that would lead to a rate increase; is that correct?  You would lower your -- you would have to -- you would have to secure working capital for some of --

MR. BRISTOLL:  Yes, that's correct, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So that would lead to a rate increase?

MR. BRISTOLL:  We would probably have to get more financing or something.

MR. MILLAR:  And also on that point, I understand only about a sixth of your working capital from these damaged -- or, pardon me, security deposits is currently reflected in rates; is that right?  It's gone up something like 100,000 to 650,000 since the last rates case? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  That would be correct.  I don't know exactly, but I --

MR. MILLAR:  Something like that.

MR. BRISTOLL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  After a rates case, I take it that working capital would be reflected in rates, would actually lower rates a little bit? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  It is my understanding that is how it would work, yes. 

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

5 you have already agreed to before we got here today.

MR. BRISTOLL:  Yes. 

MR. MILLAR:  Six, this relates to notice.  Is there any real objection to that? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  I don't know -- I believe there is a current mechanism in place.  If you intervene in a rates case, you automatically receive these notices.

MR. MILLAR:  I think as a practical matter, I can't imagine many cases they wouldn't get notice anyways, but --

MR. BRISTOLL:  Yes, and, I mean, they received our notice for every rates case.

MR. MILLAR:  That's absolutely true.  But are you willing to commit to give them notice to any application you have before the Board?

MR. KING:  This is different, though.  This doesn't say the application.  This says any proceeding we're a party to.

MR. MILLAR:  Oh, I see.

MR. KING:  Which is a bit --

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So --

MR. KING:  A generic gas proceeding.

MR. THACKER:  We don't think we should have to do something that Union Gas doesn't have to do, just because the town wants it.  They don't have any basis for --

MR. MILLAR:  I just want to know if you agree or you don't agree.  So the answer is "no". 

MR. BRISTOLL:  The answer is "no".

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

And 7 you agree to?  You have already agreed to 7.

MR. BRISTOLL:  We have done that already --

MR. THACKER:  We've already done it.

MR. MILLAR:  So you agree.

MR. BRISTOLL:  Correct. 

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I think those are my questions, thank you.

MR. BRISTOLL:  Thank you. 

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Thacker? 
Questions by the Board:


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Thacker, just before you carry on, I would just like to ask Mr. Bristoll a question. 

And just to gather a kind of a sense if there is anything unusual that goes on with the energy rates proceeding, but can you explain to me how you deal with bad debt as an expense in the realm of the rates case?

MR. BRISTOLL:  It would be like any other O&M item, operating and maintenance item.

MR. QUESNELLE:  So you put forward a projection of your bad debt, ask for that bad debt in recovery.

MR. BRISTOLL:  That would be correct, yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  And could you, just for the record -- what is the effect of collecting an expense for bad debt in rates?

MR. BRISTOLL:  If it increases your O&M, your operating and maintenance cost, it would increase your rates. 

MR. QUESNELLE:  And would you agree then that it is in fact spreading bad debt across the whole customer base? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  Yes. 

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Now, to the extent that you have had this new policy in place, or this -- it seems, by looking at the numbers, that either a new policy or an adherence to the policy since 2005 and the ramping up of your security deposits, has that had an effect on your bad-debt expense projections?

MR. BRISTOLL:  We have -- well, the example that I provided earlier was the example of the tobacco farmer who didn't pay us for nine months.  We don't see that happening anywhere near where we used to.  So I would say that it would reduce our bad-debt projections.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  If you could run through the numbers, because I don't -- I want to just see if there is an expectation for the pattern to continue.  You gave us some examples of the collection of security deposits and the returns --

MR. BRISTOLL:  Mm-hmm.

MR. QUESNELLE:  -- on a ramp-up basis, and you mentioned your most recent numbers reverse that. 

Can you maybe reiterate that and let me know what your expectations for the future are?

MR. BRISTOLL:  My expectation is, is that it is likely -- all things equal, it's likely that we have probably matured at this level and that, if anything, we should see them either stabilize or drop.

But, I mean, if the price of gas goes to $20 an MCF or a GJ or something like that, it would change, you know, how you would look at a security deposit.

MR. QUESNELLE:  So that taken into account, what I am trying to establish here is whether or not what we have been seeing as a ramp-up -- and I am not speaking to the quantitative amounts --

MR. BRISTOLL:  Right.

MR. QUESNELLE:  -- in 2.5 or what period that you are capturing in your security deposit.  That aside -- but any security-deposit program that would have a beginning and reach to maturity and then a return, are we seeing that we perhaps have the tip of the bell curve behind you?  Is that a reasonable expectation? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  Well, we have been at this for three years now, so -- or roughly, I think, you can see.  So I can't, you know, see why it would rise significantly.  I think, yes -- to answer, I think we're at the top of the bell curve.  I can't guarantee that, but I believe we are. 

MR. QUESNELLE:  So any program, irrespective of the quantum that you would be collecting, would have that, because it had a beginning of a new policy or adherence to an existing policy.  Is that typical of what you would see in a collection and return? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  I think, if you start anything from zero and you have to build it up and there's a lag between when you're building it up and when you would be potentially returning, that you would see something like that happen, yes. 

MR. QUESNELLE:  So it is your expectation, all things being equal -- forget -- the price of gas aside and what-have-you, not the quantum, but the pattern -- your expectation is that this would run a normal course of being -- of declining in amounts of how much you are holding? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  I think that -- I think we reached our peak, and I think that there's -- that it will go down as people --

MR. QUESNELLE:  All things being equal.

MR. BRISTOLL:  Payment history, yes.  I can't guarantee it.  I won't do that, but I --

MR. QUESNELLE:  No, I just wanted to capture whether or not there was something unusual about this program, that it wouldn't have the normal curve.

MR. BRISTOLL:  This is not a financing program or anything like that.  It is just us trying to put a policy -- to put the policy in place so that the shareholders and the ratepayers are protected.  I think we have done that. 

MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, and you catch my point of the questions is to establish a normal pattern and whether or not you see that as a normal pattern.  I am not making any -- obviously not offering an opinion on the quantum --

MR. BRISTOLL:  Right.

MR. QUESNELLE:  -- but in any -- if your security deposit captured a half-month on average over the last 12 months, irrespective of that characteristic, it would have a normal pattern ramping up and then --

MR. BRISTOLL:  Yes, it would, yes.  I think we have, yes, to answer your question.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you. 

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Bristoll, you mentioned, in response to Mr. Millar, this business -- this is point number 4 in schedule A of the town's conditions -- that they want, as you have heard, the consumer deposits put in a trust fund. 

And as I understand it now, that trust fund could be administered by you.  And the reason they want it there, as I understand it, is, given the financial situation of the company, they don't want those funds being seized by some debtor like Union.  They want it to be clear that those are, in fact, trust funds for the benefit of the customers.

You said, Well, I don't know how that would work.  What's the problem if the funds are in a trust fund down the hall?  It really just classifies them for accounting purposes.  You would have the same ability to realize the amount if you followed the rules, which would presumably be in the trust agreement, if the customers skip town or whatever the condition was.  What's the practical problem you were alluding to?

MR. BRISTOLL:  Well, I guess part of it is I don't really know what it is the requirement of the trust fund would be.  It is fairly broad.  I mean, some trust funds have very strict in and outs on them, and some don't.

MR. KAISER:  So is it just a question of the mechanics?  You understand why they want it.  It really has nothing to do with you.  It is they want these funds classified clearly, so if somebody else steps in to seize your assets, they are clearly identified as being the property of a trustee for the benefit of the residents.  They're not your assets.

MR. BRISTOLL:  Right.  I don't know the mechanics.

MR. KAISER:  So it's a mechanical issue?

MR. BRISTOLL:  No, two issues.  I don't know the mechanics of a proper trust fund that actually segregates the funds.  I mean, to put the moneys in a separate bank account and say they're a trust fund doesn't necessarily make them a trust fund.  Do you know what I mean?

MR. KAISER:  Let's suppose you can find a lawyer who knows how to set up a trust fund properly.

MR. BRISTOLL:  Right.

MR. KAISER:  What's the practical problem?

MR. BRISTOLL:  I guess just administration, but, you know...

MR. KAISER:  Okay.  Then a question which may be right off in left field, but I have just been looking at your financial statements for the first time, and financial -- page 15, and it is item number 6 in the notes of the financial statements. 

You earned interest of $27,000 on a note that you gave to a related company.  That didn't exist before.  As a matter of interest, what is that?

MR. THACKER:  Just give us a second. 

MR. KAISER:  It's page 15 of the financial statement?

MR. BRISTOLL:  It's a promissory note to a related company.

MR. KAISER:  I know that's what it says, but who is the related company?

MR. BRISTOLL:  NRG Corp.

MR. KAISER:  NRG what?

MR. BRISTOLL:  Corp.

MR. KAISER:  What's that for?  Why are you loaning them money?

MR. BRISTOLL:  We did our initial -- we lent them money so it would assist them in doing the drilling of natural gas wells so that they could then -- within the community of Aylmer and elsewhere, so that they could then drill the wells; we could take the gas pay royalties to local citizens, and then use that gas to supply to Limited.

MR. KAISER:  That's the company you buy this 30 percent of your gas from?

MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct, yes.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. BRISTOLL:  You're welcome.

MR. THACKER:  Mr. Bristoll, I am going to show you a letter that was produced in appendix A of your answers to interrogatories.  It is a letter dated February 14th, 2006 from Peter Budd of Budd Law.

Can you tell me, firstly, what that letter is and how it impacts your belief and understanding about the consequences of a three-year renewal for your lenders?

MR. BRISTOLL:  When we went through the exercise of replacing the Imperial Life financing with funds from the Bank of Nova Scotia, one of their concerns was the renewal of the franchises, and they wanted to acquire some comfort that the renewal process was a relatively simple process that didn't go through huge gyrations and conflicts, and all of that kind of thing.

And they required this letter or this opinion from our legal counsel at the time in order to put together the final pieces that would allow them to provide us with the funding.

MR. THACKER:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.

MR. KAISER:  Just on that question, again, this is at page 16 of your financial statements.  This is with respect to the existing notice as of the date of these financials, which is September 30th, 2008.  There is some $6.2 million still outstanding on the Scotia note.

You set out there the payments that are due over the next three years, 2009, 2010, and 2011, and of course the big payment comes at 2011 of 6 million.

So this lender doesn't care about the three-year term, because on this deal he's getting paid out before that, anyway.  Am I reading that right?

MR. BRISTOLL:  No, it doesn't quite work that way.  There needs to be an ability to pay it out.  Normally, you would go for a refinancing and you would continue the loan.

This loan is being amortized over 25 years, not five years.

MR. KAISER:  But in your financials it says you have to pay 6 million off in 2011.

MR. BRISTOLL:  Right.  That's because that is the end of the five-year term.  So at that point you would either renegotiate -- or they would start an advance, or you refinance with another institution.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.

MR. BRISTOLL:  You're welcome.

MR. THACKER:  Those are my questions.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Thacker.  We will come back in an hour, Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:35 p.m.


- SEQ CHAPTER \h \r 1-- Upon resuming at 1:47 p.m.


MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. Tunley?

MR. TUNLEY:  Mr. Kaiser, I would ask that Ms. Adams be sworn. 

MR. KAISER:  Yes. 

MR. THACKER:  Just before we start, I had asked Mr. Tunley a question, I think, about his position with respect to the three years, if everything else could be dealt with.

MR. KAISER:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  And I spoke to my clients to try to answer the question from my side.  I am not sure you got a complete answer from Mr. Tunley, but I thought I would try to lay out for you, because it seems to me that some of these issues may be -- we may be able to take them away, if you would be interested in hearing what our, sort of our position is.

MR. KAISER:  What's your pleasure, Mr. Tunley?  Do you want to hear from Mr. --

MR. TUNLEY:  I am in the Board's hands.  I think it is useful.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Go ahead, Mr. Thacker. 

MR. THACKER:  All right.  We would be prepared to agree to apply to file for a rate hearing by the end of the calendar year.  We're reluctant to go as early as six months, because it could commit us to a schedule that is difficult to meet and costly to meet in the short-term, because of the uncertainties that we are facing, but we could certainly agree to file by the end of the calendar year, which would be about ten months from now. 

We would agree to implement the proposed GDAR rule.  This is all conditional upon Mr. -- upon a satisfactory renewal term, but we would agree to implement the proposed GDAR rule, notwithstanding that it is not being imposed on any other gas company. 

And to help you follow along, if you can turn to NRG's evidence, tab D-1, last page. 

MR. KAISER:  Yes, go ahead. 

MR. THACKER:  So I have dealt with item 1.  With respect to item 2, I have dealt with that.  We would agree to implement the proposed GDAR amendments regarding customer service, regardless of whether or not the OEB imposes them on anyone else. 

With respect to 3-A, we would set out a written policy.  With respect to 3-B, we would do that also.  With respect to 3-C, we would agree to set out a policy regarding new customers, excepting the last five words, dealing with "rate".

With respect to the deposit issue, our position is this:  We're not prepared to consent to doing so, because if we do that, to put the money in trust, it will cost money.  We'll have to have a trust fund set up.  We'll have to have it administered and audited, and we'll at least have to have some labour to administering it over time.  And that will cause the costs to go up, and that will therefore cause the rate to go up.

But if you impose it upon us, we're happy to carry it out.  We just, we're not prepared to agree, because we don't want to be stuck with the cost.  But if it is the town who is demanding this, and the town is prepared to accept the effect that it may have on the rates -- it may be negligible, but as a point of principle we're not prepared to consent.  But we have no difficulty doing it if you order us to do so.  It is neutral to us. 

With respect to item 5, I think we're already required to do that under the October order, but we will if we're not required, and we are already doing it anyway. 

With respect to item 6, we're not prepared to agree to that.  Our position is that's unreasonable and something that is guaranteed to cause trouble in the future.  There is a regime for interested parties to get notice.  It's a statutory regime, and it's adequate.

And as a practical matter, the town knows what's going on anyway.  We don't want another excuse for a rate hearing -- or for an emergency hearing on something that is really a make-work project.

So we are not prepared to agree to that.  We think it is it unreasonable.  They get the notice that they are entitled to and that legislative scheme recognizes they need. 

And with respect to item 7, we have already done it, and we'll continue to do so. 

Now, all of that is conditioned on renewal of the franchise for the customary term of 20 years, which will allow us to obtain financing and continue to operate.  And that's sort of -- to answer the question from -- from our side, essentially we can deal with all of these other issues, it seems to me, and then the issue with respect to the length of renewal should fall away. 

And if it doesn't fall away, and if the town still insists on a three-year, it couldn't be any clearer that they have an inappropriate motive for what they're seeking, and it has nothing to do with customer service or improving relations, because we're willing to do all of that, and they would still have a remedy for breach of the things that we have agreed to do if we do not comply with them. 

MR. KAISER:  And those terms would be in the franchise agreement? 

MR. THACKER:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  The ones you agree to.

MR. THACKER:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  I just have one reaction, which I think, in fairness, I should let you know, is with respect to this rate-hearing issue.  We had a hearing here, as you know, in connection with Union Gas. 

MR. THACKER:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  And as a result of that, we tightened up on the reporting requirements --

MR. THACKER:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  -- which happily your client has complied with.  But quite aside from anything going on in this proceeding, speaking from the Board's perspective, I think we have a responsibility to review these financials in a public manner.  It has nothing to do with this, it has to do with Union's concerns.  So we didn't put these reporting requirements in just because we had nothing else to do.  We intend to act on them.

So I think it is highly unlikely that we're going to wait around for a year.  The reports are in.  We have our people looking at them.  And that was why I suggested to you that six months might be a better compromise, as opposed to the immediate filing that Mr. Tunley was requesting.

But that is just the Board's perspective.  It has nothing to do with this.  And of course, the Board can order the applicant to come in, in any event --

MR. THACKER:  At any time.

MR. KAISER:  -- if we are forced to do that.  But I just ask you to consider that request in light of those remarks.

The other thing which, quite frankly, I don't understand, Mr. Thacker -- and I don't know what your business strategy is, but you had a huge asset that is about to go into rate base which you're entitled to earn a rate of return on.  And I would have thought the minute that asset is used and useful, which it clearly is, as of September -- I don't know when gas started flowing, but it was at least by September, wasn't it, if not a little bit earlier?  You know, you are giving up on a rate of return.

MR. THACKER:  Oh, we're not suggesting we don't want to file until the end of the calendar year.  We don't want needless procedures.  This is costing us an incredible amount of money, because we have --

MR. KAISER:  Well, I am laying all my cards on the table.

MR. THACKER:  Fair enough.

MR. KAISER:  You know, we are capable of being quite suspicious when we have nothing else to do.  And, you know, you say, well, why wouldn't these boys want to put this in the rate base and start earning a -- you've doubled your rate base, more or less, give or take, so -- anyway, I just --

MR. THACKER:  We just --

MR. KAISER:  -- add that for your consideration when you decide whether you -- when you will file.

MR. THACKER:  Let me try to answer.  We just don't want to be stuck having to do it in the next three months and having to pay the lawyers on a rush basis and consultants extra time, and having to leave some issue or the evidence --

MR. KAISER:  Mr. King is happy with that.

[Laughter]

MR. THACKER:  Yes.  So we have -- what I can say is -- I don't know much about energy, but from what I have determined, the rate always goes up, almost always, and that is likely to happen --

MR. KAISER:  It is a question of when it starts, though.

MR. THACKER:  So --

MR. KAISER:  Generally, your client wants that increase earlier, rather than later.

MR. THACKER:  Right.  Generally speaking, if we can do it orderly, we will do it sooner.

MR. KAISER:  Right.

MR. THACKER:  Now, to answer the first question, though, the point you raised on the financial statements, we can give you the most recent financial statements.  We've got nothing to hide. 

MR. KAISER:  No, I think we have them. 

MR. THACKER:  Oh, you've got them.

MR. KAISER:  They're here.

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  So you've got the most recent ones.

MR. KAISER:  Well, we've got the latest audited financials.  I guess your first-quarter reports aren't out yet.  We haven't hit the first quarter.  We have the September 30th audited statements. 

MR. BRISTOLL:  No, they haven't done the quarterlies yet, no.

MR. THACKER:  But there seems to be a suggestion that -- or a concern, at least, that NRG is somehow financially unstable.  And we've had the hearing, and we know what your findings are.  But remember the evidence.  They have never missed a payment.

MR. KAISER:  No, no, I am not making any --

MR. THACKER:  Okay.

MR. KAISER:  I am not making any accusation.  We made a ruling in that case.  We did what we did for the reasons we said.

MR. THACKER:  Right.

MR. KAISER:  But we also put in place a filing requirement, and you have complied with it.  We appreciate that.  But we have to act on it in order to protect Union's interests.  We can't just be seen -- the Board can't be seen to be sitting around here and just letting it sit there.  So we have some concerns and obligations, quite aside from what's going on here. 

MR. THACKER:  Sure. 

MR. KAISER:  We have some sympathy for Mr. Tunley's request, quite unrelated to any reason that he wants it.  I am just --

MR. THACKER:  And if you have concerns on the other issue --

MR. KAISER:  Well, I can't repeat them.  I've told you them.  So...

MR. THACKER:  No, but, I mean, after reviewing the financial statements, if there is some question or concern --

MR. KAISER:  It is more than us reviewing them.  I don't want to put it as high as this, but we made an undertaking to Union, to get them to quiet down and settle down, that we were going to look at this, and we will get the statements and everyone will have their opportunity to come back and visit this issue.

MR. THACKER:  Fair enough.

MR. KAISER:  Because the one thing the Board can never be seen to be doing is to have been put on notice by somebody that a utility is in a poor financial situation and do nothing about it.  I am not making any judgment about what the facts are, Mr. Thacker.  We don't know.  I just want you to understand our concern.

MR. THACKER:  Thank you.  I guess we have sort of laid our cards on the table.

MR. KAISER:  We appreciate that.

MR. THACKER:  And we tried to eliminate as many issues to try to help you.

MR. KAISER:  Please go ahead, Mr. Tunley.

MR. TUNLEY:  Thank you.
TOWN OF AYLMER - PANEL 1

Heather Adams, Sworn

Examination by Mr. Tunley:

MR. TUNLEY:  Ms. Adams, I understand you're the chief administrative officer of the Town of Aylmer, you have held that position for four years and that you are here on their behalf; is that right?

MS. ADAMS:  That's correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  And you have prepared and, with my assistance, filed prefiled evidence at tab 1 of the binder of the Town of Aylmer's evidence.  Can you just confirm that you have reviewed that, and that it is accurate to your best knowledge, information and belief?

MS. ADAMS:  I do confirm that it is accurate to the best of my knowledge and belief.

MR. TUNLEY:  And that includes the attachments to it, the tabs that are referred to in it?  Those are properly identified?

MS. ADAMS:  It includes all of the attachments.

MR. TUNLEY:  Do you adopt the evidence that's been prefiled as your evidence in this proceeding under oath?

MS. ADAMS:  I do adopt it as my evidence.

MR. TUNLEY:  What I propose do is just highlight the key points.  I think they have already been discussed to some degree, but I will ask you to, again, highlight for the Board, if you will, the town's perspective on some of the points that we have highlighted.

So, first, in paragraph 3, we have identified that the town is -- as a party to a franchise agreement with NRG, is one of five municipalities served.  We have set out the dates of the various agreements.

Can I just ask you, have you met with, spoken to the other municipalities prior to developing your -- the town's position in this proceeding about the issues that are raised?

MS. ADAMS:  First of all, the town's one of a total of six.

MR. TUNLEY:  Sorry.

MS. ADAMS:  Second of all, the position that the municipalities have put forward is the position that I articulated on behalf of our council, who adopted it.

We had discussions with the other municipalities, where we got information like when their franchises were due, and we asked -- we provided them with a copy of the reports that went to council and asked for their comments on those.

And my general understanding is they support the notion of being able to deal with our franchise agreements in greater numbers than one, for a number of reasons.

One of those reasons would be, as small individual municipalities - for example, Aylmer is here - we have one out of eight franchises.  We don't particularly perhaps have a lot of influence in getting things that are important to our customers, and if there were a group of us who could speak to it, that would be good.

From a resource perspective, instead of six municipalities having to go through the expensive and resource-consuming process of franchise renewal, and, if there's a hearing, if we were able to combine our resources, there would be some economies of scale.

And the third reason would be it gives all of us, as public agencies, including the Board resources, an opportunity to maybe have one or two hearings instead of eight hearings.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  Just to pick up on a couple of things you mentioned, you mentioned that the position you have developed and put forward to council for approval is the Town of Aylmer's own position. 

Can I ask you just to refer to the report that you prepared at tab B of the binder, and then at tab C we have the council resolution adopting your report?

Am I right that's the basis for the issues and concerns and the position you are bringing forward to the Board in this proceeding with respect to franchise renewal?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.  You will see, in the background to my October 8th, that concerns were raised through a significantly large number of signatures on a petition that was brought to council.  In recent history, we don't remember ever getting a petition that had that many signatures on it, and it was presented at a public council meeting asking council to do something.

We had a letter also from the township of Malahide, who had had complaints.  And it was on the basis of the public coming to council that council asked staff to review the options and provide them with a report.

MR. TUNLEY:  The specific question is:  At the time you prepared and submitted this report to council in or about October 8th, had you had discussions with the other five municipalities in the area, and does your report reflect what you learned from them about any shared concerns?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.

Okay.  If I could just turn to page 11 of tab 1, which is your -- tab 1 is your summary or outline of the evidence.  At page 11, paragraphs 37 and 38 and following, you have responded in these paragraphs, to some degree, to suggestions in the NRG evidence about the process of meetings and negotiation with them about the franchise agreement from June 2008 onwards.

Can you just tell the Board, from your perspective, Ms. Adams:  How did the town and you, on behalf the town, and the mayor, approach those meetings, and how did they unfold from your perspective, just generally?

MS. ADAMS:  We started with the consideration of the franchise agreement in around about June.

You understand that in a municipal setting, material is provided.  It's given to council in a public setting.  They respond.  They might ask for more circumstances, but it has to go to council meeting.

So I can't necessarily answer a question without the direction of council and it has to wait until the meeting.

So we have set out here that we tried to respond to their letters as quickly as we could.  And, in fact, as soon as council gave me direction, I would respond.

Second, in the process of doing that, of course, right in July, members of council, staff and myself had been getting calls from the public and communication from the public about their concerns, and then it culminated in the petition being put on the council table in July. 

So that was something that was important to consider in the context of what we would do, in terms of renewing our franchise.  We always approached it from the perspective of renewing the franchise.  We wanted to renew, with some conditions, that would move towards reinstating at a level of confidence between our residents, who are customers of NRG.

MR. TUNLEY:  I just want to take you quickly to the petition that you have mentioned a couple of times.  You will find it, I believe, in tab H, at the back of tab H.  It's the last document.

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Is that the petition that you are referring to, and you have referred to it a couple of times?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.  The notes there are the written presentation that the petitioners provided to council and read into the record.  There's a copy there of an online petition and a copy of the -- well, not -- well, there's a copy of the entire contents of the written petition, and there's a copy of the ad the group put in the paper.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  So all of the documents at this tab relate to the petition, the process of forming it, the online and the handwritten portion?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  Just explain to the Board, if you would, what was the significance of this petition of the event when it was presented in July 21st of 2008 to your council?

MS. ADAMS:  First of all, we don't recall ever getting a petition with that many signatures on a topic in Aylmer.  And council received the petition and requested staff to do a report with recommendations back to them.  And certainly there was concern expressed about the level of unrest, in terms of the customers of NRG within the town.

MR. TUNLEY:  You are well aware, one of the issues that arises from this petition and other considerations that you gave is the issue of how security deposits are treated.  Can you just tell the Board, what are the key points that you brought forward, or your key concerns, in relation to how NRG deals with security deposits?

MS. ADAMS:  I think there were several concerns that were expressed to us by the public.  Again, the concerns we're raising are those that have been brought to the attention of council and staff from the public.

Number one, there was a lot of concern expressed by the fact that people came forward and said they couldn't find a written policy.  People brought in examples where one household would be charged $1,000, another household would be charged $500, and a third household would be charged $50.  And they simply wanted to know how those calculations were made and why they were different.

The second piece of their complaint was that when they tried to phone, then -- and we are talking back in the spring of 2008 -- NRG, they only ever got an automated answering service, and there were varying complaints about the fact that no one returned their call.  No one -- if they did, there was no information provided.  If they asked who the manager was, they were told they weren't allowed to release that name, or they were given to another department called the credit department.

The next set of complaints was over when they would get their deposits back and under what circumstances.  They wanted to see something written down so that it would be clear to them when and under what circumstances the deposit was returned.

And the last sort of circumstances that were related to us was the notion that some people got their deposits back and others didn't, and it really -- they didn't understand what the terms were that made that conclusion.  They basically wanted to see something in writing.

MR. TUNLEY:  In the proposal, the process that you went through, as I understand it, is that you took to council again in December -- and this is at tab L of your material -- you took a second report to council, which included a draft franchise agreement with a schedule A, some terms that you were proposing to suggest for renewal with NRG; is that correct?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.  That was our formal position being adopted by council at that point.  Prior to that, the September 11th meeting being an example, we were having discussions with NRG.

MR. TUNLEY:  And as a result of all those discussions, the proposal you developed and brought forward to council in December is the one we find at tab L?

MS. ADAMS:  That's correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  And it was approved by council on the 15th of December?

MS. ADAMS:  It was.

MR. TUNLEY:  Is that correct?  And presented to NRG the next day, December 16th?

MS. ADAMS:  That's correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Just looking at the attached proposal.  We have had some reference to schedule A.  The deposit issue that you have mentioned -- security-deposit issue is --

MS. ADAMS:  I'm sorry, where are you?

MR. TUNLEY:  I am at tab L.  It's the second-last --

MS. ADAMS:  Okay.

MR. TUNLEY:  The schedule A document is the last page of the second-last item in tab L.

MS. ADAMS:  Okay.

MR. TUNLEY:  The proposal you have made to NRG, as I understand it, includes three components to address the security deposits.  The first is in paragraph 2(a).  Part of the proposed changes to the gas-distribution access rule changes includes measures with respect to security deposits; is that correct?

MS. ADAMS:  That's correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  And the second thing you asked is for NRG, in paragraph 3(a), is to adopt a written, publicly available, security-deposit policy so that customers will understand what the rules are; is that correct?

MS. ADAMS:  That's correct.  We don't comment on what the policy is.  What we're asking for is that there be a written policy, and that policy be available in the widest public way, distributed to their customers, available at their front office, available on a website, whatever, as long as it was in writing.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  And then the third item in this list of terms in paragraph 4 is a suggestion that NRG keep the monies that they gain from consumers in security deposits in a trust fund or trust account.

MS. ADAMS:  That's correct.

MR. TUNLEY:  Can you just tell the Board, how did that suggestion come about, and what's the concern underlying it?

MS. ADAMS:  Prior to the hearing that we have spoke about this morning with respect to Union, we did not have any copies of their financial statements, so we weren't quite sure what was happening with the money.

At the Union hearing, when we saw for the first time copies of the financial statements, two things came to light for me.  One is that, in addition to the retractable shares, which are callable, they would take priority -- if someone was looking for calling their debt, they would take priority over our customer deposits.

And second, with the ruling that Union got also a priority, we now have the quarter million dollars that our customers have entrusted to NRG, would be available to those creditors to fulfil theirs, if there was some issue that they, rightly or wrongly, chose to exercise.  The notion of having it in a trust of some description would protect our community residents' money, to be returned to them appropriately.

MR. TUNLEY:  I believe we have seen in the financial statements the amount held in -- by NRG at the moment has risen in 2008 again to 750,000.  Are you aware of that?  And is that part of the concern that you are bringing forward?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes, certainly when we saw those financial statements, the total value of the customer deposits held were 100,000 in, I believe it was '06.  And they were on the rise significantly.

And the other twig to that was the number of complaints we were getting at the town office about the requirements and the level of security deposits.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  Just going on some of the other provisions in schedule A, if you still have that in front of you as part of tab L.

Another thing you have asked for is a written complaint policy or process in paragraph 3(b).  What is the background to that request?

MS. ADAMS:  It was meant to ensure that the customers or whomever, who had complaints with NRG, were clear on how to make those complaints, then a process that would be in place.

When people came to complain to us, we would say, It's not our business.  You have to deal with NRG.  And they would say, 'But we don't know how to get a hold of them.  They don't return our phone calls.  They don't -- whatever.

So this was meant to have a written policy in place so people would know, When I want to complain, this is how I do it, and this is the information I would have to provide.

MR. TUNLEY:  The third item in paragraph (c) -- sorry, paragraph 3, subparagraph (c) is a written policy that you are requesting regarding new and relocating retail, commercial, and industrial customers.

Can you just explain to the Board why you made that request and put it forward in this form?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.  Prior to the fall of 2005 we had great experience with NRG management.  They worked with the town when we had interested parties who might want to set up a business or an industry here.  They came to the table, as did our other utilities.  And we were able to provide all of the important information for a company or a business who wanted to come to our town.

On or about the summer or fall of 2005, we no longer got that support, and the first example that we saw of that was in the context of trying to do a deal with our ethanol plant to come to our community. 

And, subsequent to that, I had complaints from other industries, one industry that was in the community and was looking to relocate, one industry that was in the community and was looking to switch from, sorry, propane to natural gas, and several concerns expressed by industries from outside the community who had read the press on the -- on the issues between our ethanol plant and NRG and were expressing their concern about coming to our community, if that was the circumstance they would have to deal with.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  You have asked, in paragraph 6, to be given notice of proceedings to which NRG is a party before the Board; not just applications that they may bring, but any proceeding that they become involved in.

Can you just explain to the Board why that request was made?

MS. ADAMS:  I can give an example of their most recent rate hearing.  I believe the notices were given in 2005.  And at that point, the town had nothing but positive relationships with NRG and we had no reason or desire to intervene in their rate hearing, although when the hearing did come to Aylmer, we were so pleased that the hearing was here.  Our mayor went to show support and to bring forward his wishes that there be support for the ethanol plant.

After that hearing, notice was given -- we then began to have some concerns, but we weren't entitled to any notice -- further notices about that particular rate hearing.  So because we didn't intervene in 2005, when we had no reason to, we didn't get notice of any of the other, whether they were paper hearings or otherwise.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  One of the issues, and perhaps the key contentious issue in the proceeding, is the town's request or suggestion to the Board that the term of any renewal be for a three-year period.

Can you just explain to the Board why the town has taken that position?  What are the considerations behind that?

MS. ADAMS:  The main set of concerns on behalf of the municipality, who is expressing them on the behalf of the public -- and I can't emphasize this enough.  The public were concerned.  They came to council.  They asked council to do something.

Schedule A is the "something" council is doing for those people who live in our community.

The three-year term is about having an opportunity to put these things in place, to rebuild a positive relationship, and to get back to the situation pre 2005 where we can all go forward together to make this community a place where people want to stay and want to come and visit.

One of the concerns, certainly our council watched, as we were intervenors in hearings, where the Ontario Energy Board gave direction to NRG and they ignored it.  They were fined by the Board for ignoring Board orders, and we did not want to go for 20 years without having another opportunity to deal with those issues.

Our best hope, as a community, is that three years down the road we don't have to do any of this, that we would have a franchise agreement that went for 20 years and we would all live happily together for 20 years and not have to go to this resource.

I think it gives everyone an opportunity to strive to do better, to build the trust again, to build the trust with the public, and then we could proceed on the basis of the typical franchise agreement.

Now, we put forward agreement, support, endorse, whatever the model franchise agreement that our representative, MO, negotiated.  We adopted all of the same terms.  We simply added a schedule A and we asked that the renewal term be for three years.

The other -- the second thing is when we look at our sister municipalities, their franchises come -- three of them come due in three years.  Another one comes due in four years.  So we believed there was an opportunity to work together to come to a franchise agreement that hopefully we would all be able to go forward on. 

There are a lot of economies of scale, and we don't all have to duplicate resources if we can do some of these things together.

MR. TUNLEY:  One of the concerns that have been raised by NRG in their response to your proposal is about their renewal of -- or ability to renew debt, longer-term debt, if the franchise renewal is only for a three-year period.

Do you have any perspective on that, or how do you deal -- how do you respond to that concern?

MS. ADAMS:  The franchise we are dealing with today, the one we want to renew for three years, is one of eight franchises.  Three of those do come due in three years.

I don't understand why Aylmer's franchise for three years would have any more impact than the existing ones.  We are only one of six municipalities.

MR. TUNLEY:  All right.  Can you then -- just in closing, can you tell the Board, what is your -- there's been some suggestion about what your purpose is in bringing these forward, these proposals forward.

Can you tell the Board, in your own words, what is it you are trying to achieve by presenting this package of proposals for renewal --

MS. ADAMS:  I can tell it in my words.  You can read it in the words of council.

They would like the issues that our residents have raised dealt with.  They would like to renew this franchise agreement with this company.

If you look at the Town of Aylmer, we're in a very important and unique position, where we have small, local utilities in all of the sectors.  We have a local-grown, bred and born telephone company, A&M Telecom.  We have a local born and bred electric utility in Erie Thames, and we have a local born and bred gas company in NRG. 

That's a really important future to sell to people, that it's a community that works together, that breeds good companies and supports good companies.

We would like to get back to the situation pre 2005 where we could be in that kind of a positive relationship with all three of our utility suppliers.

MR. TUNLEY:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.
Questions BY the Board:


MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. Adams, I wonder if you could just help me out on the -- your comments on the combination -- or not the combination, but the combining of the timelines or synchronizing of the timelines in the agreements and, hypothetically, if they all came together at a particular time. 

You mentioned the economies of scale that that would achieve.  What mechanism would you suggest could be in place that would combine the parties, the municipal parties, into a common position?

What I am getting at is the synchronizing of timelines doesn't necessarily collapse agreements; that there would still be all of the agreements in place.  They're just all expiring at the same time.

Have you contemplated an arrangement in which all parties would have common issues to deal with and an agreement mechanism so that there are truly economies of scale?

MS. ADAMS:  To be honest, sir, no, we haven't really contemplated that kind of mechanism.

What we did is go so far as to say, in other issues, local municipalities, we work together.  If we have common interests and common grounds, we put together common positions so that five of us don't all go hire a specialist, a consultant, a lawyer or whatever; that we work together.  We can hire one.  We can approach it that way.

The other piece that I believe we felt was important is that the line for the customers is, you know, there are people who live in Aylmer and we have a boundary line.  Their next door neighbour is in Malahide.  The issues are the same for the customers.  The boundary for their gas utility is much larger.

I think the third thing is that it really does give an opportunity to have one comprehensive discussion and hopefully go forward in a positive way. 

I think there is much important support that they can be given from all of us municipalities as a group.  And that would hopefully go a long way to building the reputation of NRG if they could stand and say, All our municipalities are supporting us.  Wouldn't that help improve their reputation? 

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you. 

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Thacker?
Cross-examination by Mr. Thacker:


MR. THACKER:  You referred to concerns about customers, expressed to you by industrial customers, and one of them was IGPC, right? 

MS. ADAMS:  Yes. 

MR. THACKER:  And you read a press release issued in February of 2008, issued by IGPC.  Remember that? 

MS. ADAMS:  Could you show me it? 

MR. THACKER:  I don't have a copy here.  Do you not remember the press release? 

MS. ADAMS:  I couldn't say that I did, no. 

MR. THACKER:  I will see if I can get you a copy. 

MS. ADAMS:  Okay. 

MR. THACKER:  So these concerns that you say were expressed, they were expressed to you by IGPC? 

MS. ADAMS:  And others, yes.

MR. THACKER:  Well, let's just focus on what you know.  Who was it that expressed these concerns to you? 

MS. ADAMS:  Staff, and members of the board of directors, and some of the shareholders. 

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  And you were relying on what IGPC told you, assuming that it was true, right?

MS. ADAMS:  Not entirely, no. 

MR. THACKER:  Well, are you assuming that what IGPC told you was false? 

MS. ADAMS:  I was present at some of the discussions.  I witnessed some of them myself. 

MR. THACKER:  Right.  You were present at the hearing February 28th, correct? 

MS. ADAMS:  Yes. 

MR. THACKER:  Right.  And you will agree with me that the Board found at that hearing that the central issue was, first and foremost, IGPC's failure to deliver credit and the dispute as to the proper amount of that letter of credit.  You can read that if you want.

MS. ADAMS:  If you say so.  I will agree. 

MR. THACKER:  All right.  That was the central issue that day, right? 

MS. ADAMS:  Well, you just said so, yes.

MR. THACKER:  Well, you will agree with me.  You were there. 

MS. ADAMS:  I wouldn't necessarily agree that was the only issue, no.

MR. THACKER:  Right.  You will agree with me that's what the Board found --

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  -- despite what the parties wanted them to find.

MS. ADAMS:  Yes. 

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  Now, you also said, I think, that your concern about the security deposit arose when you became aware of the financial statements on October 18 as a result of the Union application. 

MS. ADAMS:  That was the first time that we had all of the concerns that I expressed.  But there were concerns expressed by members of the public to us prior to that.

MR. THACKER:  No, I know, but you said it was the first time you saw the financial statements that you became concerned about the safety of this deposit money.

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  Right.  And it was that application that made you concerned about the security of that deposit money.

MS. ADAMS:  That's correct.

MR. THACKER:  And so in effect, it was Union Gas through an application that woke you up to this concern about the deposit money and its safety? 

MS. ADAMS:  Yes. 

MR. THACKER:  And you had some other discussions with Union Gas around the time of that application on October 18, right?

MS. ADAMS:  No. 

MR. THACKER:  No?  So you just read about it for the first time in the application materials? 

MS. ADAMS:  Yes. 

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  Are you sure about that? 

MS. ADAMS:  I am absolutely positive.

MR. THACKER:  Right.  Would you turn to your report of October 8th? 

MS. ADAMS:  Can you give me the tab number, please? 

MR. THACKER:  Sure.  It is in your evidence, at tab 1-B. 

MS. ADAMS:  Okay. 

MR. THACKER:  This is your report of October 8th, correct? 

MS. ADAMS:  Yes. 

MR. THACKER:  You drafted it? 

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  And you were careful when you drafted it?

MS. ADAMS:  I'm always careful when I write something.

MR. THACKER:  In fact, when you refer to council referring something to staff for consideration, isn't staff really just you? 

MS. ADAMS:  No.  We have 35-odd staff. 

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  And if you look at the last page, you will see your signature at the bottom. 

MS. ADAMS:  Yes. 

MR. THACKER:  And you will see that, if you go to the second-last page, this is where you set out the recommendations as at October 8, right? 

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  And this reflects the concerns you had as at October 8.

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  And so one of them is to advise the OEB of some of the concerns about NRG, correct?  That's the first one?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes. 

MR. THACKER:  Right.  And then you said at paragraph 2:

"Request the OEB consider the following regulatory and/or policy changes."

And the first one is requiring certain customer-service measures, right?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes. 

MR. THACKER:  And you will agree with me that the fourth bullet point refers to requiring consumer security deposits be kept in a trust fund.

MS. ADAMS:  Yes. 

MR. THACKER:  So it's not true that you woke up to this concern on October 18th. 

MS. ADAMS:  No.  What I told you was that we had a concern about the monies that were brought forward by our customers.  When in fact we had the benefit of the material produced at the Union hearing, we had additional concerns, those concerns being the fact that -- the ones that I outlined, the fact that the monies were secured before the customer deposits, and the fact that the customer deposits were on the increase. 

MR. THACKER:  You just told this Panel a moment ago that you woke up to the issue of the safety of the security deposit on October 18 or shortly before. 

MS. ADAMS:  Yes. 

MR. THACKER:  And I am suggesting to you that is not true.  You in fact were concerned about it by October 8. 

So is that your evidence now, that you in fact were aware of it before the October 18th application materials? 

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.  I think I've been clear that the issue was raised with the town, with myself, and with others by members of the public.  They were concerned with the deposit money, where the deposit money was, what was being done with it.  That concern was reinforced at the Union hearing when we saw the financial statements for the first time.

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  So it's not that you --

MS. ADAMS:  I've said that three times --

MR. THACKER:  It is not that you woke up.  It is now that your concern was reinforced.  Is that what your evidence is? 

MS. ADAMS:  I don't understand the distinction. 

MR. THACKER:  Do you understand the distinction between being made aware of something for the first time and having a concern reinforced? 

MS. ADAMS:  Yes. 

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  So when you said you woke up to it by the October 18 application materials, that's not correct.  You're saying now that you just had a previous concern that was reinforced. 

MS. ADAMS:  Define "woke up".  "Woke up" to me is, I get more information. 

MR. THACKER:  Well, you answered -- you answered the question when I put "woke up" to you.  You didn't have any trouble understanding it the first time, right? 

MS. ADAMS:  Mr. Thacker, I think I answered the question -- 

MR. THACKER:  Okay.

MS. ADAMS:  -- very clearly.

MR. THACKER:  And you also said that -- and I wrote this down too -- that this October 8 report is the basis of the concerns that bring you here today, sets out the basis of the concerns, correct? 

MS. ADAMS:  Would you repeat that, sorry?

MR. THACKER:  Yes.  The October 8 report sets out the basis of the town's position.  That's what you said.

MS. ADAMS:  In part, yes.  There's a subsequent report on December 11th.

MR. THACKER:  No, I understand.  But what -- you didn't qualify it in your evidence-in-chief.  You just -- your counsel asked you if this was the basis of the town's position, right? 

MS. ADAMS:  Yes. 

MR. THACKER:  I'm not trying to exclude the next report.

And you also said that you had had discussions with the municipalities before this report was prepared. 

MS. ADAMS:  Yes. 

MR. THACKER:  All right.  And when did you first start talking with these other municipalities about their position? 

MS. ADAMS:  One of the first discussions would have been when the township of Malahide was present at the hearing with respect to the ethanol plant. 

MR. THACKER:  So that would be as early as February --

MS. ADAMS:  No, I believe it was in the summer -- I'm sorry, I can't answer the question on the dates.

MR. THACKER:  I can tell you the hearing --

MS. ADAMS:  That's the first recollection I have of any discussion.

MR. THACKER:  Right.  So the hearing on the ethanol plant was February 28 at the town hall?  Remember that?  A beautiful old building just down the road.

MS. ADAMS:  No.  There was one prior to that.  There were several hearings on the ethanol plant --

MR. THACKER:  Oh, so you'd be --

MS. ADAMS:  -- sorry, I'm not sure which one you mean.

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  So the one you remember, where you first spoke to the town of Malahide or the communications with Malahide began?  That's what you just said --

MS. ADAMS:  Was at one of those hearings.

MR. THACKER:  Right.  So it was no later than February 28th, 2008, right? 

MS. ADAMS:  Okay.  Yes. 

MR. THACKER:  Well, I just want your -- I don't want you to guess. 

MS. ADAMS:  I --

MR. THACKER:  You would agree with me that it was at least --

MS. ADAMS:  No, I guess I couldn't agree, because I am guessing.

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  So now you don't remember when you first met with the town of Malahide? 

MS. ADAMS:  It was during one of those hearings.

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  And we know the most recent hearing was February 28, 2008. 

MS. ADAMS:  On what?  There was one in the fall.

MR. THACKER:  The hearing you just referred to.  Oh, are you suggesting that your first communication with Malahide was October 18?

MS. ADAMS:  No.  I thought you were.

MR. THACKER:  No.  I'm trying to establish when you first had communications with these other municipalities that you now purport to speak for.

MS. ADAMS:  First of all, I don't purport to speak for anyone but my own municipality.

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  Let me just stop you there, then.  What you have told this Panel about what other municipalities desire is not true?

MS. ADAMS:  What I said was I believe that this is the discussions we have had and what they wish to do.  I look at their letters and see what they're doing.  I never once said that I spoke for them.

MR. THACKER:  Right.  But they're not here to speak for themselves, right, so we don't have any evidence from them?

MS. ADAMS:  I don't know if you have evidence from them.  Not that I have seen, no.

MR. THACKER:  Let me go back, though.  I want to establish when you first started speaking to these other municipalities about this strategy.

MS. ADAMS:  Well, there was no strategy.

MR. THACKER:  When did you start speaking with Malahide about concerns about NRG and the renewal of the franchise?

MS. ADAMS:  We started talking -- there were discussions about concerns that the municipality had with NRG in the context of the ethanol plant.

MR. THACKER:  Right.  That was as early as --

MS. ADAMS:  There was never any strategy, or whatever words you're using, no.

MR. THACKER:  No.  I'm just using -- you said, in your evidence-in-chief, that you had discussions with the other municipalities all before October 8.

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  I am trying to determine when those discussions commenced.  And so far, from what you have told me, they had to have started by no later than February 28, because that's the most recent ethanol hearing; correct?

MS. ADAMS:  What I said was that we would have started having discussions with Malahide at that point.

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  And I think what you said is that this February 8 memo sets out -- sorry, the October 8 memo sets out the collective or your understanding of the collective views of these other municipalities, after all of your discussions; right?

MR. TUNLEY:  I don't believe she said that.

MS. ADAMS:  I don't think I said that, no.

MR. THACKER:  Okay.

MS. ADAMS:  I don't propose to speak for them.  I am giving you my understanding.

MR. THACKER:  That's what I'm trying to deal with.  You understand what they -- what their position is; right?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes, but I'm not presenting it on their behalf.

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  So your understanding of their position was known to you by October 8 when you set out this memo?

MS. ADAMS:  My understanding is that they were supportive of looking at working together in terms of renewing the franchise as a group somewhere around 2012.  That's all I'm saying.

MR. THACKER:  Yes.  And that understanding you had before you did your memo of October 8th?  That's what you said.

MS. ADAMS:  If somebody could read it back.  I can't remember everything I said.

MR. THACKER:  Can we read back the first few sentences?  I hate to do this, but this is sort of an important point.

MR. KAISER:  All right, go ahead.

MR. THACKER:  There was a question when Mr. Tunley began - it was probably his third or fourth question - where he referred to the October 8 memorandum, and there's a series of questions where my recollection is the evidence was that they had discussions before October 8 and those -- the results of those discussions are set out in the October 8 memorandum.

TECHNICIAN:  It will take me a moment to find it.

MS. ADAMS:  Why don't you just ask me what you want to know?  Sorry, just ask what you want to know.

MR. KAISER:  Why don't we take a 15-minute break to allow the reporter to get the material and let you have a look at it?

MR. THACKER:  Thank you.

--- Recess taken at 2:42 p.m.

--- Upon resuming at 2:48 p.m.

MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.

Did the reporter find what you were looking for, Mr. Thacker?

MR. THACKER:  Yes.  Just one question. 

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, the court reporter has e-mailed me the copy of the text, so I will just read that on to the record, with your permission. 

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you. 

MR. MILLAR:  "Mr. Tunley:  A specific question is, at

the time you prepared and submitted this report to council in or about October 8th, had you had discussions with the other five municipalities in the area, and does your report reflect what you learned from them about any shared concerns?
"Ms. Adams:  Yes."

MR. THACKER:  That was true when you gave that evidence, wasn't it?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes. 

MR. THACKER:  All right.  And so what we have in this October 8 report is your shared understanding of the view of the other municipalities. 

MS. ADAMS:  It's my understanding, yes. 

MR. THACKER:  Yes.  Okay.  And so if we look at this report...

MS. ADAMS:  What page are you on, sir? 

MR. THACKER:  Let's look at page 5.

You will agree with me that that shared understanding is set out at pages 5 and 6, correct, of the report?

MS. ADAMS:  No. 

MR. THACKER:  Well --

MS. ADAMS:  This is the Town of Aylmer's understanding.

MR. THACKER:  Right.  All right.  And are you suggesting that the other municipalities, to your knowledge, do not agree with what the town's understanding or proposal was, set out on pages 5 and 6? 

MS. ADAMS:  They were provided with this report, and they commented on it afterwards. 

MR. THACKER:  No, no.  You just told us, under oath, that this report reflects your understanding of the shared concerns of the municipalities. 

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.  Inasmuch as they're expressed here. 

MR. THACKER:  Yes.  Right.  And so -- and you wanted this report to set out as accurately as possible, firstly, the Town of Aylmer's position, correct? 

MS. ADAMS:  Correct. 

MR. THACKER:  And as accurately as possible your understanding of the position of the other municipalities, correct? 

MS. ADAMS:  No.  This position that's set out here is the Town of Aylmer's position.  If there was anything that the other municipalities -- and we agreed to, it would have -- no, let me start again. 

The position that is set out here is the Town of Aylmer's position.  What we had spoke to the other municipalities was if there was any interest in going forward with a common franchise renewal date so that we could work together on that renewal.  We did not talk about the details that are set out on pages 4 and 5. 

MR. THACKER:  Oh, I see.  So you didn't actually tell -- you didn't discuss any of these recommendations with the other five municipalities?

MS. ADAMS:  No. 

MR. THACKER:  No.  So the one thing you did discuss with the other municipalities is the three-year renewal; is that right?  Or the coordinated renewal?  Is that your evidence? 

MS. ADAMS:  We discussed conceptually a coordinated renewal. 

MR. THACKER:  Right.

MS. ADAMS:  I don't recall early in the discussions that a time period was referenced. 

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  So when you prepare your report of October 8, after your discussions conceptually, you deliberately omit any reference to this conceptual coordinated renewal, from all of the words of your October 8 report, didn't you? 

MS. ADAMS:  Not deliberately, no.  What I am putting forward here are the recommendations that our council was considering. 

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  So as of October 8, your council was not interested in a coordinated renewal, correct?

MS. ADAMS:  The discussions were at a staff level.

MR. THACKER:  You put in here what the town's position was at October 8, correct?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  And there is nothing in this October --

MS. ADAMS:  Well, but I was recommending the town's position be amended.  Council adopted it.  Sorry.

MR. THACKER:  Right.  Okay.  And so as of October 8 you were not recommending any coordinated renewal at all, were you?  Because I read it carefully, and there is not one reference. 

MS. ADAMS:  Mm-hmm.  Not at that time, no. 

MR. THACKER:  Right.  In fact, you weren't even recommending, as of October 8, a three-year renewal period, were you?  Because that's not in the report either. 

MS. ADAMS:  No.  We were still in discussions with NRG with respect to details of the renewal. 

MR. THACKER:  Are you sure you were in discussions with NRG? 

MS. ADAMS:  I'm positive. 

MR. THACKER:  You had one meeting in September, right? 

MS. ADAMS:  We had a series of off-the-record meetings, which Mr. Bristoll just brought to the table before lunch.

MR. THACKER:  In all of the requests, which I am going to go through, that are set out in the evidence, the first meeting you had was in September, on September 11. 

MS. ADAMS:  Yes. 

MR. THACKER:  Right.  And you had already been meeting with the other municipalities by then, we know, right?

MS. ADAMS:  At least Malahide, yes. 

MR. THACKER:  Right.  You actually can't remember, with respect to any municipality other than Malahide, right? 

MS. ADAMS:  I don't remember the exact dates.

MR. THACKER:  But you know it was, I'm going to suggest to you, well underway throughout the summer, your discussions with all of the other five municipalities. 

MS. ADAMS:  No.  I can honestly say I didn't have any discussions with them through the summer.  I was on vacation.

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  So they commenced before you went on vacation. 

MS. ADAMS:  I think that I said we talked -- we 
were -- we talked to Malahide --

MR. THACKER:  I know.

MS. ADAMS:  -- at the time of a previous hearing.

MR. THACKER:  You said that.  But now I'm suggesting to you you talked to the other municipalities before you went on summer vacation. 

MS. ADAMS:  I don't think so. 

MR. THACKER:  Well, do you know? 

MS. ADAMS:  I don't recall talking to them. 

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  And you were on vacation until when the -- September 11, right, or thereabouts? 

MS. ADAMS:  I came back from vacation, I think it was the second week or third week of August, that weekend. 

MR. THACKER:  Oh, I see.  So your discussions with these other municipalities would have happened at least throughout August? 

MS. ADAMS:  I don't recall meeting with them throughout August. 

MR. THACKER:  And they would have happened at least then in September? 

MS. ADAMS:  I would expect so, yes.

MR. THACKER:  So when you meet with NRG on September 11, is it your evidence that you had had no discussions with anyone other than Malahide about their views?

MS. ADAMS:  I only ever recall one meeting.  There was no series of discussions.  There was, like, one meeting where the administrators got together and talked about a whole number of things that had absolutely nothing to do with the natural gas.

And there was a discussion about whether there would be some interest in working together, if we were able to have some type of a common franchise renewal, and talked about the things that I talked about, that there would be some efficiencies, in terms of being able to hire -- maybe share the costs of consultants or of lawyers or whatever it was we needed, and that we were all smaller municipalities, and that we would be able to have a stronger position if we had a common position, and that that would be a good thing for all concerned, the municipalities and NRG. 

MR. THACKER:  So you remember all of that from the meeting, right? 

MS. ADAMS:  Basically, yes.

MR. THACKER:  Yes.  And when was the meeting? 

MS. ADAMS:  If I can look at notes that aren't on record, I could probably come up with a date, but I don't know off the top of my head. 

MR. THACKER:  Sure.  I would like to know when that meeting was. 

MS. ADAMS:  Okay.  I'm sorry.  I thought I had the -- that piece of my calendar in here, and I don't.

MR. TUNLEY:  We may be able to give an undertaking to provide the date.  There may be records that --

MR. THACKER:  Thank you.  I would like to have the date.  That is the one meeting where all of these discussions took place; right?

MR. TUNLEY:  I will give a transcript undertaking to make best efforts, if we can, the date of that meeting.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you.  Mr. Tunley, just while you are making notes, in the report that Mr. Thacker has been referring to, in the last page, there is an item number 3 on page 6.  It says:

"This is one of the recommendations that Ms. Adams made, a request that the OEB establish a process for review of the legislation and regulations which require the municipalities and natural gas distributors entering into franchise agreements.  The realities of the current process for these agreements do not operate such that they improve the distribution of natural gas to its customers.  The municipality has no real ability to negotiate even the minimum service delivery requirements, no realistic ability to enforce the provisions of the franchise agreement when a distribution company does not meet them, and no real ability to change the provisions of service.  The legislation guiding franchises is outdated in its provisions, such as the requirement for public vote, and typically are replaced with the OEB approval process."

Now, I asked you earlier - and you said you would research it and comment on it in argument - as to what remedies you thought there were and what our power were in a case of an alleged breach of the franchise agreement. 

And I am wondering how that squares with item number 3 in this report, which suggests that even if all of these conditions were in a franchise agreement, it wouldn't provide your client with much relief.

I am not asking you to deal with that now, but I am asking you to tell me whether this is still a position that you are advancing to us.  That request hasn't been made in these proceedings by your client, as I understand it; rather, you seem to now take the view that if conditions are put in a franchise agreement, it can be a meaningful instrument.  So I just want to know, just an elaboration on that earlier point.

MR. TUNLEY:  Thank you.  I will undertake to address that in our written submissions.

MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Chair, there is also a separate undertaking, if I could give that a number J1.1, and that is to determine the date of a meeting, and Mr. Tunley or Ms. Adams, could you finish that sentence for me to make sure we have the right meeting?

MR. TUNLEY:  Yes.  Ms. Adams has referred to a meeting of all of the administrators of the six municipalities, which occurred at some point in the summer or early fall of 2008, where the issue of a coordinated approach, where all of the franchises agreements would renew on the same date was discussed, and I have given you a best efforts undertaking to try to provide Mr. Thacker with the date of that.
Undertaking No. J1.1:  To provide date of meeting with six municipalities in summer or early fall of 2008.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

MR. THACKER:  Now, in any event, you will agree with me that in this report that you drafted, you were trying to give town council, on October 8, all of the information that you had available to you?

MS. ADAMS:  I was trying to give town council the report that they requested, which is whatever -- they had referred the contents of the petition and the letter from Malahide to staff for a report.

You will see they're noted at page 1.  I was providing a report on those topics.

MR. THACKER:  You were trying to give the town council all of the information you had that was relevant to the issues concerning NRG?

MS. ADAMS:  No, I was trying to deal with the issues council had referred to me, which is the Malahide letter and the petition.

MR. THACKER:  So if we see concerns about IGPC in here, that was by accident?

MS. ADAMS:  It was part of the background, I believe, and discussion about events.

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  So you were trying to give the town council all of the evidence you could, all of the information you had, about the background of NRG in the last two years, let's say. 

The reason I ask is that you are quite specific on some things --

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  -- in your report.  It seems very careful.

For example, you have a chronology on page 2 which sets out a number of events.  Do you see that?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  You will agree with me what is missing from that chronology are any of the dates, which we will go to, but are set out in NRG's evidence of the letters and requests from NRG to have a meeting with the town, or at least to learn what position the town actually had with respect to franchise renewal.

None of those things are set out in your chronology?  You can see it at page 2.

MS. ADAMS:  No.  Whatever letters we had would have been provided to council at that time.

MR. THACKER:  Are you sure?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  Are you sure you didn't provide to council the appendices to this report?

MS. ADAMS:  I provided the whole report and the appendices to council?  I provided the whole report to council.  If there were some attachments, then they were provided to council.

MR. THACKER:  I understand.  So if the letters are not attached, then -- the letters from Mr. Bristoll and from me and from NRG requesting your position, then town council never saw them; right?

MS. ADAMS:  I couldn't speak to whether they saw them or not.  When the materials come into our office, they go to the clerk's department.  They either get put on the agenda for council or they get copied and put in council's mailbox. 

There are many ways that council could have saw the letters.  I don't know.

MR. THACKER:  You're not suggesting you distribute every letter that comes into the town hall to every council member, are you?

MS. ADAMS:  If it's addressed to council, yes.

MR. THACKER:  These aren't letters addressed to council.  They would be letters addressed to you.

MS. ADAMS:  If they're of interest to council to make a decision, we put it in their mailbox.

MR. THACKER:  You can't swear under oath whether or not any of the letters addressed to you or the mayor were ever given to council, unless they're attached to this report?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes, I don't know if they were given to them.

MR. THACKER:  That's fine.  Apart from what is attached to this report, you will agree with me that you don't refer in this detailed chronology at page 2 to any of those letters or the requests that NRG was making to have a meeting, or to determine the town's position on them?

MS. ADAMS:  That's correct.

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  Now, on page 3, you are very specific about service rate increases.  Do you see that?  You have three particular dates in there?

MS. ADAMS:  Can you show me?

MR. THACKER:  Yes, top third of page 3.

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  Second full paragraph.  You will agree with me that you have -- at the second paragraph beneath that, it starts with, "In recent years a concern expressed about improvements", and your knowledge of the improvements or lack of knowledge?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  You have a detailed -- just to be fair to you, you do refer at the last paragraph to the meeting on September 11; right?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  But you don't refer, in any way, to any of the requests for a meeting that started in June?

MS. ADAMS:  Not in this document.

MR. THACKER:  Not in any document that you have actually produced in this record?

MS. ADAMS:  That's correct.

MR. THACKER:  Right.  Then you make recommendations that set out your recommendation for how to proceed; right?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  And there is no reference in here to any limitation or restriction on the term of renewal set out in this October 8 memorandum, is there?

MS. ADAMS:  No.

MR. THACKER:  No.  You didn't want the town to know -- council to know that you were considering a restricted or shortened franchise term?

MS. ADAMS:  I wasn't considering one.  I don't have the authority to make a decision on term.  That is entirely in council's hands.

MR. THACKER:  Right.  But you don't make a recommendation about it?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  All right.

MR. KAISER:  When was that recommendation first made, or was it made, by you?

MS. ADAMS:  In the December -- I believe it is my December 8th report.  It is in that report.

MR. KAISER:  All right.

MR. TUNLEY:  There is one at tab L, I believe.

MR. THACKER:  I was just going to get to that.  So the first time you told or made any recommendation to the town about a restricted renewal period was in your December 11 report; correct?

MS. ADAMS:  That's the first time the report went to a council meeting, yes.

MR. THACKER:  Right.  So can we agree, then, that -- well, no.  The real point is that is the first time you ever suggested to council there should be a restriction on the length of renewal?

MS. ADAMS:  In a report context, yes.

MR. THACKER:  Well, that's the first written record --

MS. ADAMS:  Right.

MR. THACKER:  -- you have produced of ever making that recommendation to council; right?

MS. ADAMS:  That's the first written record.

MR. THACKER:  There is no evidence that that was ever discussed with any municipality before October 8, is there?

MS. ADAMS:  A three-year term, no.

MR. THACKER:  Right.  So when you talk about the position of other municipalities as you understood it as of as of October 8, it had nothing to do with a three-year term, did it? 

MS. ADAMS:  No. 

MR. THACKER:  Good.  So then we get to this December report.  And again, you will agree with me that, in drafting this report, you want to make sure that council has all of the relevant information on which to make a decision about NRG and how to proceed, right? 

MS. ADAMS:  I assume that they would also reference the previous reports. 

MR. THACKER:  Sure.  But from October 8 up to December 11, you want to be sure that they have all relevant information. 

MS. ADAMS:  Yes. 

MR. THACKER:  And you are now making a recommendation, as I see it, starting at page 4, under the heading "staff recommendation", correct?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes. 

MR. THACKER:  And you will agree with me that nowhere in all of these detailed recommendations is there any reference to linking up the expiry dates for the other five municipalities to yours.  Not a word. 

MS. ADAMS:  I thought the renewal dates were referenced in one of my reports, the tab for the October 8th report.  No, it's not there, so, yes. 

MR. THACKER:  So the town council is being asked to accept a recommendation from you, and you don't even tell them that it has anything to do with linking up the expiry dates for the other five municipality franchises, right? 

MS. ADAMS:  Not in the context of the report, no. 

MR. THACKER:  You didn't tell the town council. 

MS. ADAMS:  I may have, in terms of questions.  I don't know.

MR. THACKER:  You may have.  But you have no evidence that you actually did, do you? 

MS. ADAMS:  Don't recall one way or the other. 

MR. THACKER:  No.  So from October 8 on to December, is it your evidence that you have the understanding of these other five municipalities, but you have omitted it from your two reports? 

MS. ADAMS:  The CEOs had had a discussion about the concept of having them renew at a similar time frame so we could work together. 

MR. THACKER:  I know.

MS. ADAMS:  That is not in either report; that's correct.

MR. THACKER:  Right.  And you left it out. 

MS. ADAMS:  Yes. 

MR. THACKER:  Right.  Now, I just want to go back and make sure that there is no dispute between us with respect to the history of the franchise agreements.  And if you would turn to the evidence -- or negotiations towards the franchise agreement.  And if you would turn to the pre-filed evidence of NRG, tab D-1. 

And can we agree that --

MS. ADAMS:  I'm sorry, I'm not quite there yet. 

MR. THACKER:  What we have, just to set the scene here, is -- is a narrative of four pages and then a series of backup documentation.  I just want to make sure that we're not at issue on these requests. 

Mark Bristoll made a request of you by way of voice-mail on June 6.  And you will see an e-mail following up on that.  It's the first document behind the narrative.  Do you see that? 

MS. ADAMS:  Yes. 

MR. THACKER:  You received the voice-mails from Mark Bristoll on June 6th?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes. 

MR. THACKER:  Right.  And then you got this e-mail from Mark's secretary, Darlene Whitfield, on June 9.  Yes? 

MS. ADAMS:  I got one on June 9th and June 11th.  They're both on the same --

MR. THACKER:  You knew that Mark was seeking to have a meeting with the mayor, and he suggests June 16, 17, or 18. 

MS. ADAMS:  Yes. 

MR. THACKER:  And you did not respond as of June 13, did you? 

MS. ADAMS:  I believe that I answered that question in my statement.  If I could turn to that, please. 

MR. THACKER:  Sure. 

MS. ADAMS:  I think it is at number 38 I responded.

MR. THACKER:  And did you or did you not respond to Mr. Bristoll by June 13th?  The reason I suggest you didn't is that --

MS. ADAMS:  I was first contacted on June 6th, got direction from the next council meeting on June 16th, and called Mr. Bristoll with the response on June 17th. 

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  So as of June 13 you hadn't responded? 

MS. ADAMS:  Correct. 

MR. THACKER:  Right.  And you did receive a letter from me on -- or you will know Mr. Habkirk received a letter, the mayor, on June 13.  You will see it in the --

MS. ADAMS:  Is that back in your documents? 

MR. THACKER:  Yes.  If you just flip forward to the next letter. 

MS. ADAMS:  Yes. 

MR. THACKER:  And you will see that attached to that is a proposed franchise agreement.

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  And you knew that NRG was requesting an opportunity to meet with the town to determine what position the town was going to take.

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  And you knew they wanted to meet as soon as possible so they could understand the town's position.

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  And you knew that it was important because the sooner they understood the town's position, the sooner they could know whether or not they would have a contested hearing or not a contested hearing.

MS. ADAMS:  No, I didn't know that part. 

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  Then you responded eventually on June 17, correct?  And if you flip forward, you will see a letter from you. 

MS. ADAMS:  I'm sorry -- 

MR. THACKER:  June 17. 

MS. ADAMS:  Sorry.  Yes. 

MR. THACKER:  And that's your signature? 

MS. ADAMS:  Yes. 

MR. THACKER:  Right.  And you say that you would be pleased -- you and the mayor "would be pleased to meet with you to discuss the franchise agreement on a mutually convenient date", right? 

MS. ADAMS:  Yes. 

MR. THACKER:  Immediately after natural gas has been provided by NRG to IGPC.

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  So you are not prepared to meet with Mr. Bristoll or NRG at all until gas is being provided to IGPC.

MS. ADAMS:  That's correct. 

MR. THACKER:  So you are linking the renewal of the franchise to the flow of gas to IGPC.

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  And you at that point didn't know when IGPC was going to be ready to receive gas, did you? 

MS. ADAMS:  I don't know if I knew. 

MR. THACKER:  Right.  Well, I'm going to suggest to you that IGPC was delayed in its own construction.  You know that, right? 

MS. ADAMS:  Yes. 

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  So you know that the pipeline was completed by NRG by the agreed in-service date, right? 

MS. ADAMS:  No. 

MR. THACKER:  Nobody ever complained to you that the pipeline was not completed by the agreed service date, did they? 

MS. ADAMS:  Yes. 

MR. THACKER:  Who complained? 

MS. ADAMS:  It would have been staff at IGPC.

MR. THACKER:  You don't remember who? 

MS. ADAMS:  Not off the top of my head.  I know I heard it more than once. 

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  You don't have any knowledge -- Mr. Bristoll tells you the pipeline was completed on the agreed in-service date.  You wouldn't have any evidence to contradict that.

MS. ADAMS:  I don't recall having that conversation with Mr. Bristoll. 

MR. THACKER:  No.  But if he were to testify, through evidence filed, that it was completed by the agreed in-service date, you wouldn't be able to contradict him.

MS. ADAMS:  No. 

MR. THACKER:  Okay.

MR. KAISER:  Ms. Adams, can I ask you, when you responded in this letter of June 17th that you weren't prepared to meet until gas was flowing to IGPC, did you do that on instructions from the mayor, or did you do that on your own? 

MS. ADAMS:  I had instructions from council as a whole.

MR. KAISER:  Instructions from who? 

MS. ADAMS:  Council as a whole.

MR. KAISER:  Oh, council as a whole. 

MS. ADAMS:  And if I can go back to my remarks.  At line 38, I was first contacted on June 6th, got direction from the next council meeting on June 16th and called Mr. Bristoll with a response on June 17th, and so on.  I had council direction.

MR. KAISER:  And council said, We're not prepared to meet with these people until gas starts to flow to IGPC?  That was their instruction to you?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MR. THACKER:  And you at the time -- or council, at the time they made that recommendation, they had no evidence as to when IGPC was going to be ready to receive gas; right?

MS. ADAMS:  They had the original date that was part of the documentation.

MR. THACKER:  That right.  But we all know IGPC was behind in their end; right?

MS. ADAMS:  I believe they were at that time, yes.

MR. THACKER:  Behind?  They were behind schedule?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  So council makes a deliberate decision to not even speak to NRG until some undetermined point in the future; correct?

MS. ADAMS:  They agreed to speak to council when the pipeline was completed -- sorry, to NRG until the pipeline was completed.

MR. THACKER:  That date was undetermined at the time?

MS. ADAMS:  That's correct.

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  They did so knowing that IGPC was anxious to meet -- sorry, that NRG was anxious to meet as soon as possible in order to find out what the town's position was?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  Then you receive a letter from me on June 20; correct?

MS. ADAMS:  Is it in here?

MR. THACKER:  Yes.  It is the next page.

MS. ADAMS:  Hmm, yes.

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  And from my letter, you knew that NRG wanted to move forward with the renewal process as soon as possible?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  Right?  And you will see that I say, in this letter, that NRG does not understand whether and, if so, why the town is linking the franchise renewal to the opening of the IGPC facility.  Do you see those words?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  So we now know the town deliberately was linking a meeting with NRG to the flowing of gas to IGPC?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes, I believe we said that clearly in the letter.

MR. THACKER:  Right.  But you didn't explain it at all when I asked you why, did you?

MS. ADAMS:  I'm sorry?

MR. THACKER:  You didn't respond to this letter of June 20 for at least a week.  We know that much.

MS. ADAMS:  Oh, that's correct.  I didn't respond to your letter.  Yes, sorry.

MR. THACKER:  Yes.  So seven days later I write to you on June 27; do you see that?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  You received that letter?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  And then you still didn't respond as of June 3; right?

MS. ADAMS:  To you, no.

MR. THACKER:  To anybody.  You didn't respond to NRG, either?

MS. ADAMS:  That's right.  The response would have been the one that came from our solicitor on July 8th.

MR. THACKER:  Right.  On July 8, there is a letter and we see that, and that letter was written on the Town of Aylmer's instructions; correct?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  You were the person responsible for conveying instructions to Mr. Tunley?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes, I communicate with him.

MR. THACKER:  So you saw this letter in draft?

MS. ADAMS:  I did.

MR. THACKER:  You approved it?

MS. ADAMS:  I did.

MR. THACKER:  Right.  And you suggest at the last paragraph on the first page that:
"NRG should provide the town with an outline of the steps that NRG believes will have to be taken to ensure that any renewal process will unfold in an orderly manner."

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  Were you genuinely curious as to what the steps were?

MS. ADAMS:  Myself, yes.

MR. THACKER:  You didn't know?

MS. ADAMS:  Not in detail, no.  I have never dealt with a franchise renewal.

MR. THACKER:  You didn't ask Mr. Tunley to give you some advice on the process?

MS. ADAMS:  No.

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  So you thought it was NRG's job to give you that advice?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  And you still refused to tell NRG whether or not you would be opposing the renewal, didn't you?

MS. ADAMS:  We always said we wanted to renew.

MR. THACKER:  No, you didn't.

MS. ADAMS:  Yes, we did.

MR. THACKER:  There is not one reference in any of this correspondence, up to July 8, where you say you want to renew the franchise.

MS. ADAMS:  There is no reference where it says we don't want to.

MR. THACKER:  That's fine.  Let's just stick with what we do have.  Nowhere in any of this correspondence have you answered NRG's request for the town's position up to July 8; right?

MS. ADAMS:  That's correct.

MR. THACKER:  In fact, you deliberately avoided answering that question at least up to July 8?

MS. ADAMS:  No.  We didn't have an answer, other than that we were going to renew.

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  You knew you were going to renew, but you refused to tell them that as of July 8?

MS. ADAMS:  That's right.  We didn't have our terms.

MR. THACKER:  Right.  So you did, then, receive a copy of the letter I sent back to Mr. Tunley on July 17; correct?  That's the next letter.

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  And you see the second paragraph, third line, I say that we are pleased the town is now willing to meet with NRG and willing to meet at your earliest convenience.  You knew that?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  And you will see the next paragraph we explained that the pipeline was commissioned on July 3.  Do you see that?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  As far as you know, that is true?

MS. ADAMS:  I don't know that it's not true.

MR. THACKER:  Right.  But you didn't have any evidence that it was not true on July 17?

MS. ADAMS:  I don't believe so, no.

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  You will see that on July 17, NRG said it was ready, willing and able to deliver gas whenever IGPC's construction is completed?

MS. ADAMS:  Correct.

MR. THACKER:  And you see the next paragraph?  It says that:
"The steps that will have to be taken to renew the franchise depend entirely on the position to be taken by the Town of Aylmer.  That is why NRG has requested repeatedly that the town provide its position on whether or not it will support the renewal of the franchise."

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  So you knew, once again, that NRG needed an answer to the fundamental question of whether or not the town would support a renewal or not support a renewal?

MS. ADAMS:  When I read this letter, I assumed we are always talking about a renewal, that that's what you were talking about.

MR. THACKER:  Are you asking this Panel to believe that you do not understand the last paragraph to be a question by NRG for the town's position on whether it will or won't support --

MS. ADAMS:  Oh, I see what you're saying.  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  So you knew NRG was still asking the question?

MS. ADAMS:  I knew they were asking the question at this point, that you were asking the question, yes.

MR. THACKER:  Right.  And you still didn't answer it as of July 20, correct, because we know that there was a follow-up e-mail sent to you on July 20?

MS. ADAMS:  I phoned Mr. Bristoll.  I think that's what this says.  I phoned Mr. Bristoll on the Friday evening --

MR. THACKER:  Right.

MS. ADAMS:  -- because I was leaving for vacation, to discuss your letter.

MR. THACKER:  Oh, yes.

MS. ADAMS:  I didn't get him, and so then I this e-mail.  I came back from vacation on the Sunday.  I sent the e-mail, and then I left on vacation until mid August.

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  So let's look at this e-mail, because it is a bit curious.  The second line says you could be available Tuesday or Wednesday, but the mayor cannot; correct?

MS. ADAMS:  That's correct.  I was not leaving the local area until the next week.  I was on vacation, but I was here in Aylmer.

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  So you then say you are on vacation until mid August after that?

MS. ADAMS:  Correct.

MR. THACKER:  So you put NRG off for another whole month?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  And you knew you weren't going to be able to meet with them for a month?

MS. ADAMS:  Well, I knew I was on vacation.

MR. THACKER:  Well, right.  And you knew they desperately wanted to know if the town would or would not support a renewal?

MS. ADAMS:  I knew they wanted to know.

MR. THACKER:  Right.  And you put them off for at least a month?

MS. ADAMS:  I took my vacation.

MR. THACKER:  You didn't answer the question they were asking you, did you?

MS. ADAMS:  I took my vacation.

MR. THACKER:  You didn't answer the question as to whether or not the town would or would not support a renewal.


MS. ADAMS:  Not until we came back and had the meeting.

MR. THACKER:  Right.  But you knew the town's position before you went away on vacation, didn't you?

MS. ADAMS:  No.  It wouldn't have been approved by council by then, no.

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  And then you received, through your counsel, a letter of August 11.  Do you see that?

MS. ADAMS:  Your letter?

MR. THACKER:  Yes.

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  I'm assuming that if I sent it to Mr. Tunley, he would give it to you eventually.

MS. ADAMS:  Right.

Now -- so you knew at least as of August 11th that NRG wanted to meet with you as soon as possible?

MS. ADAMS:  I don't believe I was back from vacation until the 15th or 16th.  That's when I would have got it.

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  And you will agree with me that despite the urgency that NRG had been expressing since June, the earliest date that you were willing to make available for a meeting was September 11th?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  And at no time before September 11 did you ever give NRG an answer to the fundamental question they had been asking you, as to whether or not the town would support a renewal?

MS. ADAMS:  That's correct. 

MR. THACKER:  And you will agree with me that if you had answered the question, IGPC -- NRG could have brought on this hearing earlier than February. 

MS. ADAMS:  I don't know what they could have done. 

MR. THACKER:  Well, you will agree with me that until they had the town's position, they wouldn't know which hearing to bring on, right? 

MS. ADAMS:  I assume you can apply for a franchise renewal whenever you want, within a year. 

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  Are you refusing to agree with me that you knew they were asking for the town's position so they could determine what next steps they had to take? 

MS. ADAMS:  I agree that they were asking for the town's position so they would know what our position was, but I didn't think that our -- giving them our position precluded them from making an application.

MR. THACKER:  And so then you meet with them on September 11.

MS. ADAMS:  Yes. 

MR. THACKER:  And you receive a follow-up letter from Mr. Bristoll dated September 12?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  And then you receive another follow-up letter on September 16?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes. 

MR. THACKER:  And you see the commitments made in that September 16 letter, that NRG is willing to work with the town on a number of issues?  I won't go through them.

MS. ADAMS:  Absolutely.  It was great news.

MR. KAISER:  Mr. Thacker, just stopping there, the one letter, one of the 12, Mr. Bristoll is writing in regard to Natural Resources Gas, and the next letter on the 16th he is writing as president of Ayerswood, saying, Please accept this letter as Natural Gas Limited's confirmation.

What is the relationship between these two companies?

MR. BRISTOLL:  Ayerswood is a related party.

MR. KAISER:  Well, I understand, but what's the relationship?  Is Ayerswood the parent?

MR. BRISTOLL:  No, that was a clerical mistake. 

MR. KAISER:  Sorry? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  That was a clerical mistake.  We put it on the wrong letterhead.

MR. KAISER:  Well, are you president of Ayerswood as well as president of NRG?

MR. BRISTOLL:  I am not -- I am vice-president of Ayerswood.

MR. KAISER:  So that is a clerical error as well? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  Yes, that is; that's correct. 

MR. KAISER:  Well, what is the relationship between the two companies, regardless of whether the letterhead got mixed up or not? 

MR. BRISTOLL:  They're just part of a greater group of companies, so they're a related company.

MR. KAISER:  What's the relationship?  Do they supply gas?  Are they shareholders?  What's the relationship? 

MR. THACKER:  There is no relationship.  I think there may be some -- they may have shareholders in common, but I am not sure, but they have no business relationship with each other, other than they share office space.  They have -- they both operate out of the same premises?  Is that true?

MR. BRISTOLL:  I have an office at Ayerswood and --

MR. KAISER:  You have an office in both places.  You're vice-president of one company and president of the other.

MR. BRISTOLL:  That's correct.

MR. KAISER:  What's the business of Ayerswood?

MR. BRISTOLL:  Property management.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Nothing to do with natural gas.

MR. BRISTOLL:  On occasion they will assist in
large -- in pipe installations, just because we have more property -- we have more construction experience over there. 

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Thank you. 

MR. THACKER:  And then you will agree with me that, after having received the September 16 letter, you prepare your October 8 report, correct? 

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  Just going through the chronology. 

And then you still don't communicate anything to NRG with respect to the question on renewal up to November 19.

MS. ADAMS:  I believe that in our evidence there is notes of a meeting on September 11th, where we talked about the franchise.  And if someone could get me the tab --

MR. THACKER:  No, I'm past September 11 now.  I am going from September 16 to November 19.  And I am going to suggest to you that there was a telephone conversation on October 14. 

MS. ADAMS:  But we had a meeting on September 11th, where we talked about the franchise renewal. 

MR. THACKER:  Yes.  I understand that.

MS. ADAMS:  Was that not your question, when did we first talk about the franchise renewal? 

MR. THACKER:  No.

MS. ADAMS:  Oh.

MR. THACKER:  My understanding is that on September 11 you agreed to provide comments to NRG on the draft franchise agreement NRG gave you. 

MS. ADAMS:  That's correct. 

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  That's what you said. 

MS. ADAMS:  No.  I think we had quite a discussion about the issues that the town had -- 

MR. THACKER:  No, no, I understand, but --

MR. HABKIRK:  -- that needed to be resolved in the context of the franchise renewal. 

MR. THACKER:  Right.  And you had a conversation on October 14th.  That was your next conversation with NRG. 

MS. ADAMS:  Sorry, where are you now in the documents?

MR. THACKER:  Well, if you look at the November 19 letter...

MS. ADAMS:  Okay.  Oh, yes, mm-hmm. 

MR. THACKER:  So firstly, the page before that is a September 16 letter, right? 

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  And this is NRG's response to a number of the issues you raised on September 11. 

MS. ADAMS:  Okay. 

MR. THACKER:  And then you had a conversation on October 14.  I am going to suggest to you that you advised that comments on the draft franchise agreement would be forthcoming shortly. 

MS. ADAMS:  Yes. 

MR. THACKER:  And then over a month later NRG follows up by a letter of November 19, right? 

MS. ADAMS:  Yes. 

MR. THACKER:  So between September 16 -- or between October 14 and November 19, you still hadn't provided comments on the draft franchise agreement. 

MS. ADAMS:  Not formally and publicly, no.

MR. THACKER:  You hadn't provided them in any way --

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  -- between October 14 and November 19 to NRG.

MS. ADAMS:  We were in the process of off-the-record discussions that Mr. Bristoll referenced this morning. 

MR. THACKER:  Right.  You hadn't given the comments on the franchise agreement. 

MS. ADAMS:  Yes, we had. 

MR. THACKER:  Well, when he writes to you on November 19 and asks for comments, you don't suggest that you have already given him comments, do you? 

MS. ADAMS:  We were having verbal discussions with him.
  MR. THACKER:  And you knew --

MS. ADAMS:  We did not give -- one of the things to understand is that when you want formal comments from a municipality, it comes from its council, and council adopts it.  Council adopted its formal position on December 15th and gave them to NRG on December 16th. 

MR. THACKER:  You will see that in November 19 NRG was asking for an opportunity to discuss with the town by November 30, right? 

MS. ADAMS:  Yes. 

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  And you see the next paragraph, that NRG says it is committed to the Town of Aylmer?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes. 

MR. THACKER:  And would make every effort possible to work with the Town of Aylmer to resolve any outstanding matters.

MS. ADAMS:  Right. 

MR. THACKER:  And then you received that November 19 letter, correct?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  And then you responded on November 26th, right? 

MS. ADAMS:  Yes. 

MR. THACKER:  And on November 26th, you suggested a meeting on December 16. 

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  Right.  And I am going to suggest to you that the reason you picked December 16 out of all possible dates, a month later, or three weeks later, is that you knew there would be a council meeting on the 15th.

MS. ADAMS:  That's correct.  And that's when they would adopt their position.

MR. THACKER:  Right.  And you didn't want to speak to NRG before then. 

MS. ADAMS:  We needed -- I assume they wanted council's formal position, and that is when it would -- the decision would be made, is on the 15th. 

MR. THACKER:  And so you didn't want to give NRG any chance to respond to the concerns before the town considered its position, even though NRG --

MS. ADAMS:  We did, on September 11th, we -- that's when we discussed what our concerns were, and did it at that date in order to give them an opportunity to respond, which Mr. Bristoll did and said he was willing to resolve them.

MR. THACKER:  On November 19 you knew that NRG was asking for an opportunity to meet with you and resolve any outstanding matters.  That's what he says on November 19.

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  And you didn't want to give him that opportunity until after December 15, when the council made their decision. 

MS. ADAMS:  I couldn't give him a position until then.

MR. THACKER:  You didn't want to give him an opportunity to resolve any outstanding concerns.  That's why --

MS. ADAMS:  Off the record, we were having opportunities to resolve them.  We were having off-the-record discussions --

MR. THACKER:  You keep saying "off the record".

MS. ADAMS:  During that period.

MR. THACKER:  He is asking you for a chance to resolve anything, and I am suggesting to you that you didn't give him a chance until you knew town council had committed its position. 

MS. ADAMS:  We were having off-the-record negotiations in the hope of resolving this before council -- and a resolution could be put on the table for council to adopt. 

MR. THACKER:  All right.  And then you put forth your December 11 report; correct?

MS. ADAMS:  That's correct.

MR. THACKER:  And that is the basis on which council made a decision, the information that is set out in the December 11 report?

MS. ADAMS:  That, and any other prior information they had been given, yes.

MR. THACKER:  Right.  For example, the October 8 report?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  And you never showed to council any of the letters that Mr. Bristoll or I were sending to you throughout this six-month period, unless we know they're attached to one of those two reports; right?

MS. ADAMS:  When we were having the off-the-record discussions, council was giving me direction in those discussions.  So they did know that.

MR. THACKER:  Was it town council's idea to refuse to meet with Mr. Bristoll or anyone at NRG between November 19 and December 15, or was that your idea?

MS. ADAMS:  The date of December 16th was offered because that's when we knew we would have a formal position to provide to NRG.

MR. THACKER:  Was the decision to refuse to meet with Mr. Bristoll between November 19 and December 15 your decision or the decision of council?

MS. ADAMS:  I was the one that suggested the date, yes.

MR. THACKER:  Yes.  So it was your decision?

MS. ADAMS:  It was my suggestion, yes.

MR. THACKER:  I'm going to suggest you were the decision maker.

MS. ADAMS:  If Mr. Bristoll wanted council's formal position, I needed them to have one before I could present it to them.  In the meantime, I am talking to Mr. Bristoll and other staff at NRG on a regular basis, on an off-the-record basis, trying to reach a deal.

MR. KAISER:  Did you tell them about the three years in any of those off-the-record discussions?

MS. ADAMS:  We said that we were -- yes, we did.

MR. THACKER:  I'm going to suggest to you that at no time before December 16 did you ever say anything to Mr. Bristoll about any restriction on the length of renewal outside the ordinary course.  And I want you to think very carefully, because this is a serious matter. 

You never told Mr. Bristoll, until December 16, that the town was going to seek a short-term renewal?

MS. ADAMS:  We were having off-the-record discussions, and I believe we talked about council's wish to have a shorter renewal term.

MR. THACKER:  There is not one piece of documentary evidence that you can produce that would evidence that you ever told Mr. Bristoll anything about a restriction on the renewal period before December 16?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.  It was off the record.

MR. THACKER:  Well, I will make it on the record.  You don't have a single piece of paper, record, note, memo, that would confirm what you are now trying to say?

MS. ADAMS:  I might.  I don't know the answer to that.  I have some notes.

MR. THACKER:  Yes.  You certainly don't have any pieces of paper from Mr. Bristoll that would prove he ever heard it from you, do you?

MS. ADAMS:  I might have an e-mail.  I don't know.  I would have to look.

MR. THACKER:  Would you agree with me that after
you -- how did you convey to Mr. Bristoll on November 16 the position of town council -- December 16th?

MS. ADAMS:  We met and the letter that is in here, dated December 16th, was provided to him.

MR. THACKER:  This is quite a detailed letter?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  You had told us that you didn't want to meet with him because you assumed he wanted the town's formal position; correct?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  That's why you waited until December 16th for scheduling the meeting?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes, yes.

MR. THACKER:  And it wasn't until December 15 that the town formally requested three years for approval?

MS. ADAMS:  Formally, yes.

MR. THACKER:  You didn't want to say anything to Mr. Bristoll until the town had determined its formal position about three years?

MS. ADAMS:  We had the discussion about three years off the record.

MR. THACKER:  You will agree with me that within several days of hearing the town's position on December 16, NRG proceeded to file its application?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes, I believe it was on the 19th.

MR. THACKER:  And you never disclosed, in this December 16 letter, any notion of linking the expiry dates for the other five franchises, did you?

MS. ADAMS:  It was part of our explanation in the off-the-record discussions.

MR. THACKER:  You kept it off the record from the council, too, didn't you?

MS. ADAMS:  No.  Council knew.

MR. THACKER:  You didn't put it in your report?

MS. ADAMS:  That's right, but they knew, as they gave me instructions off the record.  They had to do that in camera.

MR. THACKER:  Council didn't want to put that in writing, did they?

MS. ADAMS:  I don't they expressed an opinion one way or the other.

MR. THACKER:  You didn't want to put it in writing?

MS. ADAMS:  I didn't put it in writing until it was formally adopted by council.

MR. THACKER:  No, no, you didn't even refer to it in any of your reports to council, even though you say it was council instructing you about this linkage.  So which is it?

MS. ADAMS:  We had this public process happening, and, at the same time, we had off-the-record discussions with NRG.

I took instruction from council in both instances.

MR. THACKER:  Is it your evidence that you took instructions from council that included omitting any reference to the linkage idea?

MS. ADAMS:  No.  I was never told to omit it.

MR. THACKER:  So you made the decision to omit any reference to linking up the renewal dates; you made that decision yourself?

MS. ADAMS:  I'm not sure it was a decision.  It just wasn't written there.  I'm not sure it was a conscious decision, though.

MR. THACKER:  Are you suggesting that was the -- something you just accidentally left out in all of the detail that you put in those reports?

MS. ADAMS:  Yeah.

MR. THACKER:  Okay.

So do we now have it that since well before October 8, you and five other municipalities were discussing this idea of linking the renewal periods for the expiry dates of the franchise agreements?

MS. ADAMS:  We had at least one meeting about it, yes.

MR. THACKER:  Right.  And that you refused to say anything to NRG about that until December 16?

MS. ADAMS:  There were discussions with NRG about that off the record.

MR. THACKER:  And you omitted from any official record or public document --

MS. ADAMS:  Yes, that's right.

MR. THACKER:  -- any reference to a time-limited renewal until December 16; right?  There is not --

MS. ADAMS:  Again, it was off the record, so it wasn't in the record.

MR. THACKER:  Yes, you keep saying that.  You omitted it from any public document?

MS. ADAMS:  Right, because it was off the record.

MR. THACKER:  Then even on December 16, in your December 11 report, you omit any reference to the linkage strategy.  All you say in the December --

MS. ADAMS:  It's not in there, no.  That's correct.

MR. THACKER:  That's correct?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  The only thing you say is a three-year renewal?

MS. ADAMS:  Right.

MR. THACKER:  You say the three-year renewal - and I tried to write your words down - is all about working together, I think you said, "about opportunity to put things in place and rebuild the relationship"?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  So you will -- and you said build trust again, and so forth; right?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  You will agree with me that takes some time?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  You will agree with me that if you had told NRG about your concerns back in June, they would have had six months to rebuild your trust?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  But you didn't tell them, did you?

MS. ADAMS:  That's correct.

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  And now you will agree with me that if we were to put in the franchise agreement clear written obligations to do the things the town wants, then you would have achieved the goals that a time period would otherwise allow.  In other words, NR --

MS. ADAMS:  I'm sorry, I don't understand the question.

MR. THACKER:  Sure.  NRG is -- if they were prepared to commit to do the things the town wants --

MS. ADAMS:  If they agreed to the schedule A?  Is that what you're saying? 

MR. THACKER:  No.

MS. ADAMS:  Oh.

MR. THACKER:  If they agreed to all of your conditions except for the three-year renewal.

MS. ADAMS:  Okay.  The schedule A conditions?

MR. THACKER:  Everything -- that's right, everything -


MS. ADAMS:  Okay.

MR. THACKER:  Let's -- what I want to do, just to be quite frank with you, is I want to separate out the three years from everything else.  I'm going to suggest to you that this three years has nothing to do with rebuilding trust.  I'm suggesting to you it is part of a strategy to make it easier to replace NRG, okay?

MS. ADAMS:  That's not correct.

MR. THACKER:  And that's a strategy that was discussed with the other municipalities, correct?

MS. ADAMS:  Never.

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  But you have no explanation for why you deliberately refused to acknowledge the linkage of the other franchise agreements in any public document, ever.

MS. ADAMS:  It wasn't deliberate.  There was no sort of -- I didn't sit down and scheme and say, This is what I will tell them and not tell them.  Reports were written.  Information was shared to the best of my ability.  There was at no time, no time, a discussion about Union Gas. 

MR. THACKER:  I didn't mention Union Gas. 

MS. ADAMS:  Yes, you did. 

MR. THACKER:  You had discussions with Union Gas representatives.

MS. ADAMS:  We did not. 

MR. THACKER:  Never? 

MS. ADAMS:  Never.

MR. THACKER:  Not once? 

MS. ADAMS:  Not once.

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  And so you're suggesting it was just an accident that out of all the details in your October 8 and December 11 report, the one thing you omitted, twice, is any reference to this coincidental expiry date?  Just an accident? 

MS. ADAMS:  What we were looking for is a set of conditions that are -- they're set out in the report.  We were looking to rebuild the relationship.  We were looking for this -- we were suggesting this set of conditions that council believed would deal with the issues that had been brought to them by the members of the public. 

We would like to have an opportunity to see those things happen, to certainly continue the good experience we have had in the last few months of working with NRG to resolve the issues.  That's all that was going on. 

MR. THACKER:  There is not a single public document issued by the Town of Aylmer until the day before yesterday that references this idea of linking the renewal periods, other than Mr. Tunley's letter of January 9, correct? 

MR. TUNLEY:  I think that is a public document.

MR. THACKER:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  It was to the Board.

MR. THACKER:  Yes, that is the first time anyone ever acknowledged this strategy.

MS. ADAMS:  In writing, yes. 

MR. THACKER:  That's what I thought.  And then we have the Town of Bayham, who sends a letter on January 29, correct?  That's in your materials --

MS. ADAMS:  Where are you? 

MR. THACKER:  -- at tab D. 

MS. ADAMS:  Yes. 

MR. THACKER:  And you see at paragraph 1 that this strategy is intended to create -- and now I will quote -- "the ability to offer a combined larger, more populous consumer base for the consideration of any potential supplier". 

MS. ADAMS:  Yes. 

MR. THACKER:  And so the objectives of rebuilding trust are not the only objectives the town is here trying to achieve, and rebuilding customer service and so forth.  There is another agenda here.

MS. ADAMS:  No, there is not. 

MR. THACKER:  So when the Town of Bayham sets out this notion of making it more attractive to any potential supplier, are you suggesting the Town of Bayham is acting on its own, without the support of Aylmer?  Or does the Town of Bayham have a position that's consistent with the Town of Aylmer? 

MS. ADAMS:  Their position is set out in their letter.

MR. THACKER:  No, I know.  I'm asking you about the Town of Aylmer's position.  You have --

MS. ADAMS:  Our position is set out in our documents.

MR. THACKER:  Yes, but you didn't write them down.  That's the problem, you see.

MS. ADAMS:  We only have a written position.

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  So the position we have is the one that is written? 

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  And we see that in the December -- okay.

Now, you've talked about some other industrial businesses, that you said -- I think you said that there was one business that wanted to relocate, and another one that was -- wanted to move from propane to natural gas?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes. 

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  When you received these complaints, you never once told NRG of these complaints, did you?  At the time you received them.

MS. ADAMS:  That's correct. 

MR. THACKER:  You never gave NRG a chance to address any of those issues at the time you received these alleged complaints.

MS. ADAMS:  That's correct. 

MR. THACKER:  And we know that none of these people are here today to give any evidence.


MS. ADAMS:  That's correct. 

MR. THACKER:  There appear to be only three people -- four people in the room that are not obviously associated with NRG as spectators, right?

MS. ADAMS:  Are you asking me to count them? 

MR. THACKER:  Yes.

MS. ADAMS:  Okay.

MR. THACKER:  You can ignore Mr. Grat and Mr. Howland back there.

MS. ADAMS:  I only see three, actually.

MR. THACKER:  Thanks.  So of all these people that you say signed a petition, nobody has come here today to express their views? 

MS. ADAMS:  I have no idea why other people came. 

MR. THACKER:  Maybe I could just have a few minutes.  I'm nearly finished.  I just want to collect my thoughts and see if I can shorten --

MR. KAISER:  All right.  We'll take our afternoon break.  I think the reporter might need a little break.

MR. THACKER:  Yes. 

--- Recess taken at 3:56 p.m.

--- Upon resuming at 4:07 p.m.

MR. KAISER:  Please be seated.  Mr. Thacker.

MR. THACKER:  Would you turn, Ms. Adams, to the NRG evidence, tab C-1?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  There is an outline of the history of NRG in this area, and can I just get you to agree with me that this accurately sets out NRG's history?

MS. ADAMS:  Only having lived here for five years, it is my understanding, but I wasn't here then.

MR. THACKER:  So you will know that the current owners purchased it in or about 1979 out of receivership?

MS. ADAMS:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. THACKER:  And at the time, it was, it's fair to say -- let's just say very old and primitive?

MS. ADAMS:  Okay.

MR. THACKER:  In the intervening 30 years, the customer base has gone from about 2,000 to about 7,000?

MS. ADAMS:  Okay.

MR. THACKER:  And the pipeline has been largely replaced with modern systems?

MS. ADAMS:  Is that a question?

MR. THACKER:  Yes.  Do you have any evidence to dispute that?

MS. ADAMS:  No.

MR. THACKER:  You do know about the new office building that was built?

MS. ADAMS:  I do.

MR. THACKER:  And you do know that NRG employs 16 to 18 full-time people in the Town of Aylmer?

MS. ADAMS:  I do.

MR. THACKER:  And just by the way, the Town of Aylmer does not have a full-time complaints person, do they?

MS. ADAMS:  No.

MR. THACKER:  Okay.  It wouldn't be cost-effective to employ somebody to just do nothing but take in complaints for the Town of Aylmer?

MS. ADAMS:  We don't.

MR. THACKER:  Okay, fair enough.  You will agree with me that we have had a fairly cold winter this past winter?

MS. ADAMS:  We have.

MR. THACKER:  In fact, it's been one of the coldest I can certainly remember, and I am 43 years old.  Would you agree with me?

MS. ADAMS:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. THACKER:  One of the coldest you can remember?

MS. ADAMS:  Yes.

MR. THACKER:  And you are not aware of even one instance where NRG was unable to provide gas to a customer all winter long?

MS. ADAMS:  I am not aware of any such -- no.

MR. THACKER:  You are not aware of any instance where NRG has been technically unable to provide service to any of its customers?

MS. ADAMS:  No, that's correct.

MR. THACKER:  In 30 years?

MS. ADAMS:  Well, I couldn't speak to 30 years, but in the last five, yes.

MR. THACKER:  You are not aware of NRG being in default of any payment obligations to the town; correct?

MS. ADAMS:  Not that I am aware of, no.

MR. THACKER:  Those are my questions.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  I don't have any questions, Mr. Kaiser.  I think Mr. Stoll may have one question, if I am not mistaken.  Maybe he doesn't.

MR. STOLL:  I don't have any questions, no.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.  Mr. Tunley, any re-examination?

MR. TUNLEY:  Thank you, Mr. Kaiser.  I don't have any questions.

MR. KAISER:  That's it, Mr. Millar, for any evidence, I assume?
Procedural matters:


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, that's right, Mr. Chair.  There are a couple of little things.  There's been some discussions about a schedule for the proposal for written argument.  I think we could deal with those now.

MR. KAISER:  All right.

MR. MILLAR:  There is probably the issue of what to do about the fact that the existing franchise agreement will expire likely before a final decision is arrived at in this case.

MR. KAISER:  Yes.

MR. KING:  The schedule we have spoken about for written argument is as follows.  NRG would file its argument-in-chief next Friday; that is the 20th.

Then other parties would file their submissions the following Friday, the 27th, and then we would reply on the following Tuesday; that's March 3rd. 


Obviously that runs past the franchise expiry date.  We have in our original application requested an interim order to extend the franchise in the event that no decision was rendered by February 29th so we wouldn't have to amend the relief requested.  We would just be asking for that interim order to be issued.


MR. MILLAR:  This is fairly routinely done when it looks like all of the paperwork will not get done in time for a renewal to happen.

MR. KAISER:  I assume, given that counsel discussed this schedule for argument, that you are all agreeable to the Board issuing an interim order?

MR. TUNLEY:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  Thank you.

MR. STOLL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. TUNLEY:  I think under the terms of section 10, all it need do is to extend the term of the existing agreement until such time as the Board is ready to render a decision.

MR. KAISER:  All right.

Well, we will do that in a moment.

Just one additional matter, Mr. Thacker, that we would like you to address in your submissions.

It's not an evidentiary issue at all, but while we are doing a little house-cleaning here with respect to NRG for setting the course for the next number of years, however number of years that turns out to be, we have this matter of the outstanding fine.  You referred to the decision earlier.

I understand that it is sitting in the court, although neither of the parties, either your client or the Board, has pressed it.

I would like to make a suggestion to you, which you can consider and you can deal with in submissions.  It really doesn't concern any of these other parties, but, as I say, housekeeping.  It isn't that any of the Panel members get a bonus if we collect it.  We have to do something about it.

MR. THACKER:  I can tell you what the status of it is.  I perfected an appeal of that decision.  The Board has not responded, and IGPC has not yet perfected.  I could have been more aggressive about moving to strike out their opposition or setting it down for a hearing, but I have not done that.

MR. KAISER:  I just want to offer you a proposal from the Board's perspective, and of course you can proceed with the appeal if you wish.


MR. THACKER:  Sure.

MR. KAISER:  -- I am sure we can find some lawyers to get our filing completed.

MR. THACKER:  I am happy to have your suggestion.

MR. KAISER:  But one of the things that has happened recently in the gas industry is both Union and Consumers received a windfall gain, as it were, from this Garland class action, and of course in Union's case, as it called something else.

MR. THACKER:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  In any event, they devoted these monies under the settlement approved by the court to what is called the Winter Warmth Program.  I have discussed this with the Chairman and other Board members, and our proposal to you is that we would be prepared - when I say "we", I mean the Board - to withdraw that fine, or whatever the proper term is, provided your client made a contribution in that amount to the Winter Warmth Program.

You can find out from Union how that works.  It is basically run by the United Way Agency in the territory the gas company operates in, and they use those funds to help out people in the franchise territory who require assistance paying their bill.

Of course you have so many security deposits you probably don't need that, but there may be people in Aylmer in these difficult economic times that require that assistance.  Just give this some consideration.


MR. THACKER:  We will do so.

MR. KAISER:  -- in your submissions.

MR. THACKER:  Thank you.

MR. KAISER:  Any other -- Mr. Tunley, I am going to, in this order in a minute, suggest that the interim order be for a period of 90 days from today's date.  Is that okay with you?

MR. TUNLEY:  I am in the Board's hands entirely.  It can be, as far as I am concerned, until the Board renders a decision.

MR. KAISER:  Well, it will be the earlier of.

MR. TUNLEY:  Yes.

MR. KAISER:  Obviously.  And the Board will certainly issue a decision before that, but...

MR. TUNLEY:  That's fine.

MR. KAISER:  All right.  Well, let's proceed with the interim order, then.
INTERIM ORDER:


MR. KAISER:  The Board has heard today an application by Natural Resource Gas Limited pursuant to section 10 of the Municipal Franchises Act of Ontario.  In that application, which was filed back on December 19th of 2008, the applicant sought to renew the term of its existing franchise agreement.  That existing franchise agreement dates back to February 27th, 1984 and was for a period of 25 years.  It, accordingly, expires on February 27th, 2009.

The parties have been in negotiations since at least September of this year with respect to the terms of that renewed franchise agreement and are unable to agree.

It's not necessary at this point to go into the disagreement in detail, but we can say that the Town of Aylmer is seeking additional conditions, not all of which are agreeable to the applicant. 


The Board has heard evidence today from both NRG and the town with respect to that disagreement.  We will receive written argument on the schedule agreed to, and we will issue a decision as soon as possible.

We will, however, issue an interim order today. That Interim Order will order that the rights of NRG to construct and operate works and to extend and add to the works of the distribution gas system in the Town of Aylmer continue on the terms and conditions as set out in the existing franchise agreement, until 90 days after today's date or until the renewal of that franchise agreement is granted under the Municipal Franchises Act, whichever comes first. 


Anything further, gentlemen?  Thank you. 


MR. THACKER:  Thank you.

--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 4:19 p.m.
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